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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility 
for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly 
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of 
the contents of this announcement.

YORKSHINE HOLDINGS LIMITED
煜新控股有限公司 *

(Incorporated in Singapore with limited liability) 

(Company Registration No. 198902648H) 

Hong Kong Stock Code: 1048
Singapore Stock Code: MR8

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yorkshine Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) announces the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 April 2017 together with the 
comparative figures for the year ended 30 April 2016.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 April 2017

(Restated)
2017 2016

Note US$’000 US$’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 101,826 102,221
Cost of sales (100,645) (100,510)  

Gross profit 1,181 1,711

Other income 5 7,643 7,478
Distribution and selling expenses 6 (796) (1,342)
Administrative expenses (8,702) (10,222)
Other expenses (5,927) (2,941)
Finance costs 7 (4,479) (5,477)  

Loss before tax 8 (11,080) (10,793)
Income tax credit 9 4 52  

Loss from continuing operations, net of tax (11,076) (10,741)

Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 10 1,568 (1,512)  

Loss for the financial year (9,508) (12,253)  
* For identification purpose only
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(Restated)
2017 2016

Note US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the financial year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (9,274) (10,895)
Non-controlling interests (234) (1,358)  

Loss for the financial year (9,508) (12,253)  

(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable 
to equity holders of the Company relates to:

Loss from continuing operations (10,634) (10,139)
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 1,360 (756)  

(9,274) (10,895)  

(Loss)/earnings per share for loss for the financial 
year attributable to equity holders of the 
Company (in US cents per share) 11

From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic (4.98) (6.38)  

Diluted (4.98) (6.38)  

From continuing operations
Basic (5.71) (5.94)  

Diluted (5.71) (5.94)  

From discontinued operations
Basic 0.73 (0.44)  

Diluted 0.73 (0.44)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 April 2017

(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the financial year (9,508) (12,253)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:

Currency translation differences arising on consolidation 196 (975)  

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year (9,312) (13,228)  

Total comprehensive loss for 
the financial year attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (9,024) (11,755)

Non-controlling interests (288) (1,473)  

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year (9,312) (13,228)  

Details of the dividend for the year are disclosed in note 12.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 April 2017

(Restated)
2017 2016

Note US$’000 US$’000
(Note A)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 54,163 58,947
Land use rights 2,585 4,196
Goodwill arising on business combinations 4 4  
Total non-current assets 56,752 63,147  
Current assets
Inventories – 874
Trade and other receivables 13 5,535 23,359
Tax recoverable – 77
Cash and cash equivalents 6,888 9,778  

12,423 34,088
Land use rights 507 –
Property held-for-sale – 4,889
Disposal group assets classified as held-for-sale – 44,371  
Total current assets 12,930 83,348  
Total assets 69,682 146,495  
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15 33,301 36,073
Deferred income – 426  
Total non-current liabilities 33,301 36,499  
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 15,946 14,634
Borrowings 15 19,392 47,659
Deferred income 284 328  

35,622 62,621
Liabilities directly associated with disposal group 

classified as held-for-sale – 44,225  
Total current liabilities 35,622 106,846  
Total liabilities 68,923 143,345  
Net assets 759 3,150  
Equity
Share capital 38,390 32,239
Accumulated losses (42,905) (33,492)
Foreign currency translation reserve 483 237
Statutory reserve 33 33
Other reserves 3,096 2,957
Reserve of disposal group classified as held-for-sale – 342  
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the 

Company (903) 2,316
Non-controlling interests 1,662 834  
Total equity 759 3,150  
Note A: Please refer to note 2 for the details of the restatement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 April 2017

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

YORKSHINE HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in 

Singapore (“SG”) on 29 June 1989 under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies Act”) and 

its issued shares have been listed on Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 

(“SGX-ST’) since 28 April 2008 and dual-listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited since 6 December 2010.

The immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Golden Star Group Limited (“Golden 

Star”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate controlling party of the 

Group is Mr. Zhu Jun.

On 12 December 2016, the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting approved the 

change of the English name of the Company from “NOVO GROUP LTD.” to “YORKSHINE HOLDINGS 

LIMITED”, and the adoption of “煜新控股有限公司” as its Chinese name to replace “新源控股有限公司”.

The registered office of the Company is located at 24 Raffles Place, #10-05 Clifford Centre, Singapore. The 

headquarters and principal place of business of the Group is located at Room Nos. 1102-04, 11th Floor, 

Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong (“HK”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The subsidiaries of the Company 
are principally engaged in (1) trading and distribution of iron ore, coal and steel products; and (2) 

manufacturing and trading of tinning line products, including tinplate, tin-free steel and scraps.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (“USD” or “US$”) which is the Company’s 

functional currency. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the 

accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the use of estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 

the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events 

and actions, historical experiences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.



– 6 –

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement in applying accounting policies, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustment within the next 

financial year.

During the financial year ended 30 April 2017, the Group incurred a net loss from continuing operations 

of US$11,076,000 (2016: US$10,741,000) and the Company incurred net loss of US$1,742,000 

(2016: US$1,203,000). At 30 April 2017, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded the current assets by 

US$22,692,000 (2016: US$23,498,000).

A subsidiary within the tinplate manufacturing segment has suspended its operations since the prior 

financial year ended 30 April 2015 and has only resumed its operations in May 2018. The Group also 

breached the covenants clauses of certain borrowings and defaulted on the repayment of instalments of 

certain borrowings on their respective due dates during the financial year. On 18 August 2017, the Group 

has successfully entered into a deed of assignment of loan and securities with the bank and Real Shine 

Capital Limited for the bank loans amounting to US$14,201,000 as 30 April 2017 (2016: US$15,500,000). 

Pursuant to a letter dated 11 July 2018, New Page Investments Limited (“New Page”) demanded the Group 

to repay a total sum of US$33,248,000 on or before 1 August 2018. The Group also has several on-going 

litigations as at 30 April 2017.

These factors indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 

Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going concerns and to realise their assets and discharge 

their liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Nevertheless, the Directors of the Company believe that 

the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements for 

the financial year ended 30 April 2017 is appropriate after taking into consideration the following factors:

(i) The immediate and ultimate holding company agrees to unconditionally provide continuous financial 

assistance to the Group in order to meet their obligations and to carry on their business for a period 

of not less than twelve months from the date of the letter of financial assistance, i.e. 10 July 2018;

(ii) The Group entered into a Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement with a Target Company to 

invest in the first brewery of additive-free beer in Hong Kong. The Directors believe this is a viable 

investment opportunity;

(iii) The banking facilities from their bankers for their working capital requirements for the next twelve 

months will be available as and when required, and

(iv) The Group and the Company are able to generate sufficient cash flows from their operations to meet 

their current and future obligations.

The Directors of the Company is of the view that the continuing financial support from the immediate and 

ultimate holding company is a key factor for the Group and the Company to continue their operations as 

going concerns. The Directors have assessed and satisfied with the willingness and financial ability of the 

immediate and ultimate holding company to provide such financial support to the Group and the Company 

to meet their working capital requirements and obligations as and when they fall due. 
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Management has taken the following measures to improve the Group’s operational performance and 

financial position:

(i) Adopting a disciplined capital allocation and constantly review capital expenditure plans thoroughly 

so to manage a balanced project portfolio to mitigate risks and optimise profitability for all existing 

projects;

(ii) Strengthening current customers’ base with a focus on high growth potential markets in food and 

beverage sector, and strengthen customer relationship by providing quality products and services and 

engineering solutions to customers; 

(iii) Continuously seeking improvements in the production efficiency of the Group’s production facilities 

through technological enhancements and system re-engineering in order to further reduce the costs of 

production;

(iv) Focusing on cost reduction while exploring all the opportunities to increase the sales volume of 

trading business and tinplate products, so to achieve operational efficiency by fully utilise the 

capacity of the tinplate manufacturing plant; and

(v) Enhancing the research and development capabilities with the aims to expand the expertise in tinplate 

production, improving tinplate quality and bolster manufacturing capabilities by adding high-margin 

products to the product portfolio.

After considering the measures taken described above, the Group and the Company believe that they have 

adequate resources to continue their operations as going concerns. 

For these reasons, the financial statements have been prepared on the assumptions that the Group and 

the Company will continue as going concerns. If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group and the Company may be unable to realise their 

assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made 

to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of business and 

at amounts which could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the 

statements of financial position. In addition, the Group and the Company may have to provide for further 

liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities 

respectively.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables and 

borrowings approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these 

financial instruments.

Significant Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation in the financial statements 

for the current financial year as those used in the most recently audited financial statements for the year 

ended 30 April 2016, except for the adoption of new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs applicable to the Group 

for the financial period beginning on or after 1 May 2016.

The adoption of the new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs have no material financial impact on the financial 

statements for the current and prior reporting periods.
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In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs that are 

relevant to its operations and effective for the current financial year. The adoption of these new and revised 

FRSs and INT FRSs did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group 

and the Company.

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued at the end of the 

reporting period but are not yet effective for the financial year ended 30 April 2017 have not been applied in 

preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial 

statements of the Group and the Company except as disclosed.

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 replaces FRS 18 ‘Revenue’, FRS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and other revenue-related 

interpretations. It applies to all contracts with customers, except for leases, financial instruments, insurance 

contracts and certain guarantee contracts and non-monetary exchange contracts. FRS 115 provides a 

single, principle-based model to be applied to all contracts with customers. An entity recognises revenue in 

accordance with the core principle in FRS 115 by applying a 5-step approach.

Under FRS 115, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 

“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 

customer.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 

permitted. FRS 115 includes disclosure requirements that will result in disclosure of comprehensive 

information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the 

entity’s contracts with customers. Management is currently assessing the impact of applying the new 

standard on the Group’s financial statements. At this stage, the Group has not completed its assessment of 

the impact. The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in financial year ending 30 

April 2019.

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 which replaces FRS 39, includes guidance on (i) the classification and measurement of financial 

assets and financial liabilities; (ii) impairment requirements for financial assets; and (iii) general hedge 

accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow characteristics and 

the business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in FRS 109 are based on an 

expected credit loss model and replace FRS 39 incurred loss model.

(i) Classification and measurement

While the Group has yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the classification and measurement of 

its financial assets, the Group does not expect a significant change to the measurement basis arising 

from adopting the new classification and measurement model under FRS 109. Loans and receivables 

that are currently accounted for at amortised cost will continue to be accounted using amortised cost 

model under FRS 109.
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(ii) Impairment

FRS 109 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its loans and receivables, either 

on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the simplified approach and record 

lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables.

The Group has not undertaken a detailed assessment of the impact of the impairment provisions under 

FRS 109 but the Group expects that the new expected loss model may result in an earlier recognition 

of credit losses.

The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in financial year ending 30 April 2019.

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 replaces the existing FRS 17: Leases. It reforms lessee accounting by introducing a single lessee 

accounting model. Lessees are required to recognise all leases on their statements of financial position 

to reflect their rights to use leased assets (a “right-of-use” asset) and the associated obligations for lease 

payments (a lease liability), with limited exemptions for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases 

of low value items. The accounting for lessors will not change significantly.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard will affect 

primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has 

non-cancellable operating lease commitments of US$352,480 (2016: US$301,670). The Group anticipates 

that the adoption of FRS 116 in the future may have a material impact on the amounts reported and 

disclosures made in the financial statements. But, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of 

the impact of FRS 116 until the Group performs a detailed assessment. The Group will perform a detailed 

assessment of the impact and plans to adopt the standard on the required effective date.

Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards

The Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore incorporated 

companies listed on the SGX-ST will be required to apply a new financial reporting framework identical to 

the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) (full IFRS convergence) in 2018. The Group will 

adopt the new financial reporting framework on 1 May 2018.

Comparative figures

During the financial year, the Group raised prior year adjustments for correction of the below errors made 

in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2016:

(i) In 2016, the Group did not translate a PRC subsidiary’s property, plant and equipment at 30 April 

2016 into the Group’s presentation currency using the closing rate at 30 April 2016 as required by 

FRS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. 

(ii) In 2016, the interest-free loans from former immediate and ultimate holding company were recorded 

at cost upon initial recognition instead of fair value as required by FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement. The changes in fair values of the interest-free loans in relation to the 

changes in time to maturity were also not accounted for in the financial statements for the financial 

year ended 30 April 2016.
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(iii) In 2016, the net loss on foreign exchange in relation to the borrowings amounting to US$1,959,613 

was not adjusted from the loss before tax and presented as an “adjustment for non-cash item” in the 

consolidated statement of cash flows.

Accordingly, the comparative figures were restated as follows:

As previously 
reported

Prior year 
adjustment

As 
restated

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

Statements of financial position as at 30 April 2016

Property, plant and equipment 63,154 (4,207) 58,947

Borrowings 41,351 (5,278) 36,073

Accumulated losses (38,770) 5,278 (33,492)

Foreign currency translation reserve 4,444 (4,207) 237

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 1,245 1,071 2,316

Net assets and total equity 2,079 1,071 3,150   

Consolidated income statement for the financial year 

ended 30 April 2016

Other income 1,658 5,820 7,478

Finance costs (4,936) (541) (5,477)

Loss before tax (16,072) 5,279 (10,793)

Loss for the financial year (17,532) 5,279 (12,253)   

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 

the financial year ended 30 April 2016

Loss for the financial year (17,532) 5,279 (12,253)

Other comprehensive loss for the financial year, 

net of tax

– currency translation differences arising on 

consolidation 3,233 (4,208) (975)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year (14,299) 1,071 (13,228)   

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year 

ended 30 April 2016

Net cash used in operating activities (5,953) 1,960 (3,993)

Net cash generated from financing activities 16,497 (1,960) 14,537   

The prior year adjustments have no impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company at the 

beginning of the earliest comparative period, therefore statements of financial position as at 1 May 2015 are 

not presented.
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3. REVENUE

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016
US$’000 US$’000

Sales of goods:

Sales of commodities 101,167 100,512
Tinplate manufacturing 659 1,709  

101,826 102,221  

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into business units based on its business segments purposes. The reportable 

segments are trading, tinplate manufacturing and tinplate processing which are described below. 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for making decisions about 

allocation of resources and assessment of performances of each segment.

(i) Business segments

The Group has three reportable segments detailed as follows:

Trading

Trading and distribution of a comprehensive product portfolio in the areas of:

i)  iron ore;

ii)  coal; and

iii)  steel products which include semi-finished steel products (such as billets and slabs used for 

producing deformed steel bars), finished steel products (including long products: such as 

deformed bars, wire rods, tube, section, angle channels; flat products: such as hot rolled coils 

and cold rolled coils) and others (such as galvanised steel coils and pre-painted galvanised 

steel coils).

Tinplate manufacturing

Manufacturing and trading of tinning line products, including tinplate, tin-free steel and scraps.
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Tinplate processing (Discontinued operations)

Processing, distribution and sales of tinplate products through variety types of processing (such as 

slitting, cutting and printing).

The segment information provided to management for the reportable segments is as follows:

For the year ended 30 April 2017

Continuing operations

Discontinued

operations  

Trading

Tinplate 

manufacturing

Tinplate 

processing Elimination Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment revenue to

– sales to external customers 101,167 659 28,393 – 130,219     

Segment results 380 5 (368) – 17

Other income 6,696 947 1,542 – 9,185

Other costs (5,762) (8,867) 1,053 – (13,576)

Finance costs (3,579) (900) (659) – (5,138)     

(Loss)/profit before tax (2,265) (8,815) 1,568 – (9,512)

Income tax credit 4 – – – 4     

(Loss)/profit for the 

financial year (2,261) (8,815) 1,568 – (9,508)     

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 8,433 61,249 – – 69,682

Segment liabilities 43,408 25,515 – – 68,923     

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 17 1,143 601 – 1,761

Depreciation and 

amortisation 131 2,091 528 – 2,750

Non-cash items other than 

depreciation and amortisation 1,552 1,681 (1,201) – 2,032     
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For the year ended 30 April 2016 (Restated)

Continuing operations

Discontinued

operations  

Trading

Tinplate 

manufacturing

Tinplate 

processing Eliminations Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment revenue to

– sales to external customers 100,512 1,709 23,258 – 125,479

– intersegment sales 3,000 1,022 – (4,022) –     

103,512 2,731 23,258 (4,022) 125,479     

Segment results 1,276 (907) (580) – (211)

Other income 7,166 312 581 – 8,059

Other costs (7,942) (5,221) (400) – (13,563)

Finance costs (2,468) (3,009) (1,113) – (6,590)     

Loss before tax (1,968) (8,825) (1,512) – (12,305)

Income tax credit/(expense) 114 (62) – – 52     

Loss for the financial year (1,854) (8,887) (1,512) – (12,253)     

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 28,729 73,395 44,371 – 146,495     

Segment liabilities 59,151 39,969 44,225 – 143,345     

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 90 915 1,487 – 2,492

Depreciation and amortisation 336 2,327 305 – 2,968

Non-cash items other than 

depreciation and amortisation (5,246) (185) (32) – (5,463)     
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(ii) Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in one (2016: three) main geographical areas. The turnover by 

geographical segments are based on the location of customers regardless of where the goods are 

produced. The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets by 

geographical markets, irrespective of the origin of the goods and services.

Sales to external
customers

Non-current
assets  

For the year ended 
30 April As at 30 April

(Restated)

2017 2016 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

The People’s Republic of China 

(“PRC”) 130,105 114,629 56,752 63,146

Thailand – 1,092 – –

Brazil – 9,054 – –

Philippines 114 360 – –

Malaysia – 202 – –

Singapore – 32 – –

Others – 110 – 1    

130,219 125,479 56,752 63,147    

Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the statement 

of financial position.
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Information about major customer

Revenue of approximately US$71,274,000 (2016: US$56,134,000) are derived from 5 (2016: 4) major 

external customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue, and are attributable 

to the trading segment (2016: trading segment).

US$’000

For the year ended 30 April 2017
Customer 1 17,587
Customer 2 15,257
Customer 3 15,156
Customer 4 12,912
Customer 5 10,362 

71,274 

US$’000

For the year ended 30 April 2016

Customer 1 19,698

Customer 2 13,848

Customer 3 12,210

Customer 4 10,378 

56,134 

5. OTHER INCOME

For the year ended
30 April

(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Amortisation of deferred income 426 265

Demurrage income – 123

Freight income 150 143

Gain on disposal of property held-for-sale 4,159 –

Gain on fair value adjustments on non-current loans due to former 

immediate and ultimate holding company 2,701 5,820

Government grants – 4

Interest income 3 48

Rental income 44 –

Sundry income 160 434

Waiver of loan from former immediate and ultimate holding company – 641  

7,643 7,478  
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6. DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Distribution agency fees 751 1,219

Freight charges 24 76

Port handling charges 8 24

Others 13 23  

796 1,342  

7. FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended
30 April

(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Bank charges 14 392

Interest on bank borrowings 1,041 3,270

Interest on other borrowings:

– current year 121 1,274

– over-accrued in respect of previous financial year (941) –

Deemed interest expense on interest-free loans due to former 

immediate and ultimate holding company 4,244 541  

4,479 5,477  
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Loss before tax from continuing operations is determined after charging/(crediting):

For the year ended 
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees paid to:

– auditor of the Company 209 82

– other auditors* 93 76

Non-audit fees paid to:

– auditor of the Company 3 18

– other auditors* 13 14

Amortisation of land use rights 95 104

Bad debts written off 2,021 109

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,127 2,559

Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments – 11

Loss on disposal of land use right 59 –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 5

Material costs recognised as an expense in cost of sales 100,579 99,800

Net loss on foreign exchange 3,811 2,499

Net realised gain on derivative financial instruments – (11)

Rental expenses 725 357

Staff costs 2,643 4,196

Written down of inventories 95 –  

* Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly International network.

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Income tax credit attributable to loss is made up of:

From continuing operations

(Over)/under provision of current income tax in respect of 

previous financial years:

– SG (4) 6

– PRC – (58)  

(4) (52)  
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to sell its 50% of the equity interest 

in Tianjin Shifa Novo Technology Development Limited* (天津實發新源科技發展有限公司) (“TIANJIN 

SHIFA”) (which previously contributed to the tinplate processing segment of the Group), the entire assets 

and liabilities relating to TIANJIN SHIFA have been presented as disposal group classified as held-for-sale 

in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group at 30 April 2016, and the entire financial 

performance of TIANJIN SHIFA were presented in a single amount separately on the consolidated income 

statement of the Group as “Discontinued Operations”.

The Group completed the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on 27 March 2017, the date which TIANJIN SHIFA 

ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. Subsequent to the disposal, the Group was unable to obtain the 

audited financial statements of TIANJIN SHIFA for the financial period from 1 May 2016 to 27 March 

2017. Accordingly, the unaudited management accounts of TIANJIN SHIFA as at 31 March 2017 were used 

to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group and for the determination of the profit from the 

discontinued operations of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2017.

(i) The analysis of the profit/(loss) from discontinued operations are as follows:

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

Note US$’000 US$’000

Revenue (a) 28,393 23,258

Cost of sales (28,751) (23,633)  

Gross loss (358) (375)

Other income (b) 389 581

Distribution and selling expenses (c) (10) (205)

Administrative expenses 1,053 (400)

Finance costs (d) (659) (1,113)  

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations (e) 415 (1,512)

Income tax expense – –  

Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued operations 415 (1,512)

Gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA (Note 10 (vi)) 1,153 –  

Total profit/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,568 (1,512)  

* The English translation of Chinese name is for information purpose only and should not be regarded as the 

official English translation of such Chinese name.
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(a) Revenue

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Sales of goods – Tinplate processing 28,393 23,258  

(b) Other income

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Amortisation of deferred income – 32

Interest income 176 343

Government grants – 5

Sundry income 213 201  

389 581  

(c) Distribution and selling expenses

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Freight charges 10 205  

(d)  Finance costs

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Bank charges 58 36

Interest on bank borrowings 601 1,077  

659 1,113  
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(e) Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations

(i) Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations is determined after charging/

(crediting):

For the year ended
30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees paid to other auditors* – 31

Amortisation of land use rights 87 25

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 441 281

Material costs recognised as an expense in cost of sales 28,752 23,633

Net loss on foreign exchange – 1

Staff costs 362 302

Write-back of inventories written down (355) –

Write-back of impairment loss on assets (845) –  

* Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly International network.

(ii) The impact of the discontinued operations on the cash flows of the Group is as follows:

For the year ended
 30 April

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Operating cash flows 4,048 2,622

Investing cash flows (601) (1,126)

Financing cash flows (3,492) (2,521)  

Total cash flows (45) (1,025)  

(iii) Details of disposal group classified as held for sale are as follows:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Property, plant and equipment – 5,165

Land use rights – 1,053

Inventories – 1,499

Trade and other receivables – 13,540

Cash and cash equivalents – 23,114  

– 44,371  
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(iv) Details of liabilities directly associated with disposal group classified as held for sale 
are as follows:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Trade and other payables – 43,959
Deferred income – 239
Tax payable – 27  

– 44,225  

(v) Details of reserve of disposal group classified as held-for-sale are as follows:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Foreign currency translation reserve – 342  

(vi) The effects of the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on the cash flows of the Group are as 
follows:

2017
US$’000

Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 5,325
Land use rights 966
Inventories 1,368
Trade and other receivables 7,768
Cash and cash equivalents (pledged to banks for bills payable granted) 15,248
Trade and other payables (including bills payable to banks) (29,863)
Deferred income (239)
Tax payable (2) 

571
Less: non-controlling interests (320) 

Identified net assets disposed of 251
Reclassification from currency translation reserve (346)
Gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA 1,153 

Total cash consideration received 1,058
Less: cash and cash equivalents in TIANJIN SHIFA – 

Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary 1,058 
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11. LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic and diluted loss per share is calculated based on the Group’s loss for the financial year attributable 

to equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the financial years ended 30 April 2017 and 30 April 2016.

For the year ended
30 April

(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the Company (9,274) (10,895)  

Number of ordinary shares
2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and 

diluted loss per share 186,271,776 170,804,269  

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the financial years ended 30 April 

2017 and 30 April 2016 and therefore the diluted loss per share amounts for those years were the same as 

the basic loss per share.

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations attributable to equity 

holders of the Company is based on the following data.

For the year ended
30 April

(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the Company (9,274) (10,895)

(Profit)/loss for the financial year from discontinued operations (1,360) 756  

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share from continuing operations (10,634) (10,139)  

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted loss per share.
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From discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the discontinued operations is based on the profit for the 

financial year from the discontinued operations of US$1,360,000 (2016: loss of US$756,000) and the 

denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share.

12. DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any dividend for the year ended 30 April 2017 (30 April 2016: 

Nil).

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Advance payment to suppliers 2 6,877

Trade and bills receivables 111 5,095  

113 11,972  

Deposits 254 1,327

Advance payment for property, plant and equipment – 1,308

Prepayments 744 2,147

Other receivables 886 645

Value-added tax receivables 3,538 5,960  

5,422 11,387  

Total gross receivables at 30 April 5,535 23,359

Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables – –  

5,535 23,359  
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The Group conducts settlement by letter of credit and cash in advance for most international trading and the 

PRC domestic trading and distribution. Other than that, the Group has a policy of allowing customers for 

domestic trading and distribution in HK with credit terms of normally 30 days after the date of delivery. 

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables and other receivables based on delivery date is as follows:

As at 30 April
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Not past due and not impaired 822 101  

Past due but not impaired:

0 to 1 month – –

More than 1 month to 3 months 29 131

More than 3 months to 12 months 82 866

More than 12 months 64 4,642  

Amount past due but not impaired 175 5,639  

997 5,740  

As at 30 April 2017, trade and bills receivables of US$111,000 (30 April 2016: US$3,852,000) were 

pledged to banks for banking facilities granted.

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Trade and bills payables 250 1,817

Sales deposits received 410 814

Accrued operating expenses 4,437 3,782

Other payables 4,417 4,890

Other payables for property, plant and equipment 2,427 1,766

Amounts due to a director 1,328 641

Amount due to a related party 4 –

Amount due to immediate and ultimate holding company 2,673 924  

15,946 14,634  
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The ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the end of the reporting period based on the invoice 

date is as follows:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

0 to 3 months – 127

More than 3 months to 6 months – –

More than 6 months to 12 months – –

More than 12 months 250 1,690  

250 1,817  

15. BORROWINGS

As at 30 April
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Non-current liabilities
Loans from a related party 150 –

Loans from former immediate and ultimate holding company 29,513 36,073

Other borrowings 3,638 –  

33,301 36,073  

Current liabilities
Bank loan 14,201 15,500

Working capital loans – 20,958

Loans from a director 331 113

Loans from a related party – 150

Loans from former immediate and ultimate holding company 739 –

Revolving credit facility 2,321 –

Other borrowings 1,800 10,938  

19,392 47,659  

52,693 83,732  
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Borrowings denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective Group entities 

are as follows:

As at 30 April 
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

USD 14,201 15,500

HKD 22,427 29,772  

36,628 45,272  

At 30 April 2016, the Group’s working capital loans were secured by way of:

– Legal pledge on the Group’s leasehold land and buildings;

– Pledge of assets (cargo and related proceeds) underlying the financed transactions;

– Corporate cross guarantees between joint borrowers when appropriate; and

– Corporate guarantees of the Company.

The Group’s bank loan granted to one of the PRC subsidiaries are secured by way of:

– Legal pledge of equity interest agreement, escrow account agreement, insurance agreement and 

receivables agreements;

– Legal pledge of land use rights, construction work-in-progress, building and plant and machinery;

– Share charge on a subsidiary; and

– Floating mortgage.

The revolving credit facility is secured by legal mortgages over the leasehold buildings of certain PRC 

subsidiaries and also corporate guarantee from certain PRC subsidiaries. 
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged the following assets to banks as securities against 

banking facilities granted to the Group:

As at 30 April
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment 99 110

Motor vehicles 6 5

Leasehold land and buildings 5,321 4,667

Construction work-in-progress 2,987 2,112

Plant and machinery 43,631 48,579

Land use rights 2,584 3,112

Inventories – 189

Trade and bills receivables 111 3,852

Others# 21,118 26,467  

75,857 89,093  

# Others consist of a floating charge over the remaining assets of a subsidiary.

The weighted average interest rates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

% %

Bank loan 5.28 5.05

Working capital loans – 5.71

Revolving credit facility 6.60 to 9.90 –

Loans from a related party 8.40 8.40

Other borrowings 6.00 8.00  

Loans from a director are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one financial year from the end of 

the reporting period.

Loans from a related party are unsecured and repayable on 1 August 2018 (2016: repayable within one 

financial year from the end of the reporting period).

Loans from former immediate and ultimate holding company are unsecured and interest-free. The non-

current loans are repayable on 1 August 2018 (2016: 4 October 2017). The current loans are repayable 

within one financial year from the end of the reporting period.
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Other borrowings comprise import and export credit facility from a strategic partner to facilitate the 

working capital requirement of the Group. On 18 March 2016, the strategic partner had filed a claim against 

Novo Commodities Limited for the breach of a repayment agreement signed in June 2015. In accordance 

with the repayment agreement, other borrowings were to be repaid in full by 20 December 2015. Therefore, 

other borrowings were classified under current liabilities as at 30 April 2016.

On 27 April 2017, the High Court in Hong Kong issued a consent order for both parties to settle the legal 

dispute according to a deed of settlement dated 4 February 2017. According to the deed of settlement, the 

other borrowings are repayable as follows:

(i) US$1,800,000 to be paid by 2 equal half-yearly instalments on or before 30 June 2017 and 31 

December 2017, respectively;

(ii) US$1,800,000 to be paid by 2 equal half-yearly instalments on or before 30 June 2018 and 31 

December 2018, respectively; and

(iii) US$1,840,000 to be paid by 2 equal half-yearly instalments on or before 30 June 2019 and 31 

December 2019, respectively.

The borrowings classified under current liabilities as at 30 April 2017 and 30 April 2016 are repayable 

within one financial year from the end of the reporting period.

Based on the discounted cash flows method using the following discount rates based on market lending 

rates for similar borrowings which the management expect would be available to the Group at the end of the 

reporting period, the fair values of the fixed rate non-current borrowings at the end of the reporting period 

approximate their carrying values as there are no significant changes in the interest rates available to the 

Group:

As at 30 April
2017 2016

% %

Loans from a related party 8.40 8.40

Loans from former immediate and ultimate holding company 10.00 10.00

Other borrowings 6.00 8.00  

This fair value measurement for disclosures purposes is categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Default and breaches

(i) Bank loan

During the financial year, the Group has breached certain covenants clauses in the loan agreement, 

including but not limited to the financial condition, financial testing, financial covenants and etc. 

In addition, the Group has failed to make payments of certain instalments of the bank loan on their 

respective due dates.

On 27 March 2017, the Group received a notice from the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou 

City, Jiangsu province, the PRC informing a PRC subsidiary that an application had been received to 

wind up the PRC subsidiary due to its inability to settle the outstanding bank loan.

At the end of the reporting period, the total bank loan outstanding amounting to US$14,201,000 

(2016: US$15,500,000) is presented as current liabilities as at 30 April 2017. As at the date of this 

announcement the Group has not made any repayment of the outstanding bank loan and management 

is in negotiations with the bank on the refinancing of the bank loan.

On 18 August 2017, China Citic Bank International Limited (the “Bank”), Real Shine Capital 

Limited (“RSCL”) and the Group entered into a deed of assignment of loan and securities, pursuant to 

which the Bank agreed to assign to RSCL and RSCL agreed to accept the assignment of the aggregate 

principal amount and interest thereon owing by the Group to the Bank from time to time under the 

banking facilities and all securities (the “Loan”) provided to the Bank pursuant thereto.

On 18 August 2017, the Company was informed by RSCL that the Bank has made an application 

to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City to withdraw to winding-up petition and/or 

application against the Group. Subsequently the Intermediate People’ Court of Taizhou City has 

approved the withdrawal pursuant to an order made on 5 September 2017.

On 13 November 2017, RSCL and the Group entered into a deed of settlement, pursuant to which 

RSCL agrees with the Group to settle the outstanding bank loan in the following manner.

(i) NWETP shall pay to RSCL a sum of US$3,075,548 (HK$21,200,000) within seven days after 

the date of the Deed of Settlement; and

(ii) NWETP shall pay to RSCL the balance of US$2,176,095 (HK$15,000,000) in four instalments 

of US$544,024 (HK$3,750,000) each, together with the interest on the total outstanding 

balance at an interest rate of 5% per annum, of which the first instalment shall be paid on 

the date falling the first business day after 12 calendar months from the date of the Deed of 

Settlement, and the second, third and fourth instalments shall be paid on the first business day 

of every consecutive four calendar months thereafter.
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The aggregate amount for each of the first, second, third and fourth instalment (including the 

interest accrued) shall be US$652,829 (HK$4,500,000), US$564,425 (HK$3,890,625), US$557,624 

(HK$3,843,750) and US$550,824 (HK$3,796,875), respectively.

Upon full payment of the Indebtedness made by NWETP in accordance with Deed of Settlement, 

RSCL shall irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely releases and discharges NWETP from all or 

any obligations, liabilities, undertakings or claims in respect of the Indebtedness.

Pursuant to the Deed of Settlement, RSCL agreed to release each of the securities being assigned and/

or transferred to it pursuant to the Assignment immediately upon it is legally and validly assigned and 

transferred to it by the Bank.

(ii) Revolving credit facility

During the financial year, the Group has failed to make payments of certain interest of the revolving 

credit facility on their respective due dates. The interest of the revolving credit facility was 

adequately accrued for under accrued operating expenses at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, the revolving credit facility outstanding amounting to 

US$2,321,000 (2016: US$Nil) is presented as current liabilities as at 30 April 2017. As at the date 

of this announcement the management is in negotiations with the bank on the refinancing of the 

revolving credit facility.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the bank has extended the repayment term of the 

outstanding amount of the revolving credit facility to 20 February 2019.

(iii) Other borrowings

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has failed to make payment of the principal 

repayment totalling US$2,700,000 on their respective due on or before 30 June 2018.

As at the date of this announcement, the management is in negotiations with the strategic partner on 

the revised repayment terms of the outstanding other borrowings at 30 April 2017.

Pursuant to a letter dated 11 July 2018 (the “Letter”) addressed to the Company and five of its 

subsidiaries (the “Relevant Subsidiaries”), New Page Investments Limited (“New Page”) demanded 

the Company and the Relevant Subsidiaries to repay on or before 1 August 2018 (being the maturity 

date of the Loan Agreements (as defined below)) a total sum of USD33,248,000, being the aggregate 

outstanding amount due from the Relevant Subsidiaries to New Page pursuant to the various loan 

agreements entered into between each of the Relevant Subsidiaries and New Page between 2015 and 

2016 (and as extended by various extension letters in 2017) (the “Loan Agreements”).

As at the date of this announcement, the Group is in the course of seeking professional advices in 

relation to the matters mentioned in the Letter and further announcements will be made as and when 

appropriate by the Company.
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EXTRACT FROM INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The independent auditor issued a qualified opinion in the independent auditor’s report on 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2017. The details of 
which are extracted as follows:

“In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial 
position of the Company as at 30 April 2017, and of the consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the changes in 
equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

1. Sales and Purchases transactions relating to sales of commodities

Included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are sales and purchases 
transactions relating to the conduct of the Group’s trading and distribution of iron ore, 
coal and steel products (“sales and purchases of commodities”) totaling US$101,167,143 
and US$100,009,615 respectively. The sales amounting to US$100,748,521 were 
transacted through an agent (“Agent”) appointed by the Group.

During the course of our audit for the financial year ended 30 April 2017 (“FY2017”), 
we raised concerns to management on certain documents relating to the Group’s sales 
and purchases of commodities and in particular, our discovery of two sets of sale and 
purchase agreements pertaining to the same underlying transactions. Arising from our 
findings, the Board of Directors of the Company had appointed an Independent Reviewer 
to conduct an independent review into the facts and circumstances surrounding the two 
sets of agreements, their veracity and impact to the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

As disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements, the Company announced the key 
findings of the Independent Review and published the executive summary of the 
Review Report on 19 January 2018. We noted from the key findings of the Independent 
Review that there were contracts presented for our audit purposes which were not 
contemporaneously prepared during the transactions but instead were only prepared 
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for the purposes of the audit. There were also observations of inconsistencies in the 

authorised signatories of the contracts, and there were contracts which did not reflect 

the substance of the underlying transactions. These contracts were subsequently voided. 

Due to limitations on the scope of work of the Independent Reviewer, the Independent 

Review was not able to establish the completeness of the Group’s sales and purchases of 

commodities as recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Board of Directors’ considerations and conclusion with respect to the Group’s sales 

and purchases of commodities are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

This matter is qualified because of the above-mentioned events and circumstances 

surrounding these sales and purchases transactions. In addition, we are unable to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves on the completeness of the 

Group’s sales and purchases of commodities as recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group. Consequently, we are unable to determine whether any 

adjustment was required in respect of the Group’s revenue, cost of sales and net loss for 

the year as recorded in the consolidated income statement of the Group for the financial 

year ended 30 April 2017, and the amount due to the Agent of US$895,106 as recorded 

under trade and other payables as at 30 April 2017.

2. Property, plant and equipment

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the Group’s property, plant and 

equipment as at 30 April 2017 amounted to US$54,163,550 (2016: US$58,946,713). 

Management determined that no impairment is required on the Group’s property, plant 

and equipment as their recoverable amounts exceeded the net carrying values as at 

30 April 2017.

Based on the information available to us, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence to satisfy ourselves on the reasonableness of the key assumptions and 

inputs used in the determination of the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, 

plant and equipment. Consequently, we are unable to determine whether any adjustments 

in respect of the net carrying values of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 

30 April 2017 are necessary.

This matter was similarly included in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 

independent auditor’s report on the financial statements for the financial year ended 

30 April 2016. Our opinion on the current year’s financial statements of the Group is also 

modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current 

year’s figures and the corresponding figures.
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3. Profit from discontinued operations of TIANJlN SHIFA NOVO TECHNOLOGY 
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED (“TIANJlN SHIFA”)

As disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the Group completed the disposal of 
its 50% equity interest in TIANJIN SHIFA on 27 March 2017, the date on which it ceased 
to be a subsidiary of the Group. Subsequent to the disposal, management represented 
that the Group was unable to obtain the audited financial statements of TIANJlN SHIFA 
for the financial period from 1 May 2016 to 27 March 2017. Accordingly, the unaudited 
management accounts of TIANJIN SHIFA as at 31 March 2017 were used to prepare the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2017.

The 11 months’ financial performance and gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA included 
in the consolidated income statement of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 
2017 amounted to US$415,543 and US$1,152,523 respectively.

We are unable to obtain sufficient information and explanations to enable us to form an 
opinion as to whether the unaudited management accounts of TIANJIN SHIFA used in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, were prepared in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore and in form and content 
appropriate and proper for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, in particular, the determination of the respective line items in 
the analysis of the profit from discontinued operations of the Group. Consequently, we 
are unable to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary in respect of the 
following:

(i) the profit after tax of TIANJIN SHIFA from 1 May 2016 to 31 March 2017 and 
gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA amounting to US$415,543 and US$1,152,523 
respectively included in the profit from discontinued operations, and related 
information as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements;

(ii) the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the 
Company for profit from discontinued operations as disclosed in Note 15 to the 
financial statements;

(iii) the effects of assets and liabilities disposed of and related classification of the line 
items of TIANJIN SHIFA on the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group 
as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements;

(iv) the disclosure of related party information relating to TIANJIN SHIFA; and

(v) the disclosure of segment information relating to TIANJIN SHIFA.
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4. Investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries

As disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements, the Company’s investments 

in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries are carried at cost amounting to 

US$79,481,229 (2016: US$79,463,169) and US$31,496,647 (2016: US$31,496,647) 

respectively. Management determined that no impairment is required on the Company’s 

investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries as their recoverable 

amounts exceeded the net carrying values as at 30 April 2017.

In view of the fact that most of the Company’s subsidiaries incurred a net loss during the 

current year and also Company are in capital deficiency position as at 30 April 2017, there 

are significant uncertainty over the recoverability of amounts due from subsidiaries and 

investments in subsidiaries recorded by the Company. Based on the information available 

to us, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the recoverable 

amounts of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries 

as at 30 April 2017. Consequently, we are unable to determine whether any adjustments 

in respect of the net carrying values of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and 

amounts due from subsidiaries as at 30 April 2017 are necessary.

This matter was similarly included in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 

independent auditor’s report on the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 

April 2016. Our opinion on the current year’s financial statements of the Company is also 

modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current 

year’s figures and the corresponding figures.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 

in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of 

Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) 

together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 

in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial statements with respect to the Group’s and the 

Company’s ability to continue as going concerns. During the financial year ended 30 April 

2017, the Group incurred a net loss from continuing operations of US$11,076,003 (2016: 

US$10,740,563) and the Company incurred a net loss of US$1,741,510 (2016: US$1,202,737). 

As at 30 April 2017, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded the current assets by 

US$22,691,922 (2016: US$23,498,828). Other events and conditions that may cast significant 

doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going concerns are further 

disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

These factors indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 

about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going concerns and to realise their 

assets and discharge their liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Nevertheless, for the 

reasons disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the directors of the Company believe 

that the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and presentation of the financial 

statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2017 is appropriate. Our opinion is not further 

modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Directors’ Statement as set out on pages 1 to 14, which we obtained 

prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the information included in the Annual Report 

2017 (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon) which is 

expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to 

the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 

section of our report, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the completeness of the Group’s 

sales and purchases of commodities as recorded in the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group, the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, profit from 

discontinued operations of TIANJIN SHIFA, the impairment assessment of the Company’s 

investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries. Accordingly, we are unable 

to conclude whether or not the other information is materially misstated with respect to these 

matters.

When we read the Annual Report 2017, if we conclude that there is a misstatement therein, we 

are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate 

actions in accordance with SSAs.

Emphasis of Matter – Contingent liabilities

We draw attention to Note 29(c) to the financial statements, which describes that the Group 

faces claims and litigations from several contractors, suppliers, employees, bank and 

strategic partner. The Board of Directors has assessed and satisfied with the adequacy and 

appropriateness of the accruals for claims and litigations made in the financial statements. Our 

opinion is not further modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Except for the 

matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section and Material Uncertainty Related 

to Going Concern section, we have determined that there are no other key audit matter to 

communicate in our report.”

* Notes in relate to the qualified audit opinion are separately disclosed in Appendix I of this announcement.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of Performance

Revenue from continuing operations

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations was approximately US$101.8 million for 

the year ended 30 April 2017 (“FY2017”), representing a decrease of approximately 0.4% as 

compared with approximately US$102.2 million for the year ended 30 April 2016 (“FY2016”).

Revenue from international steel trade business, major business segment, accounted for 

approximately 99.4% or US$101.2 million and 98.3% or US$100.5 million of the Group’s 

total revenue in FY2017 and FY2016, respectively. Revenue from tinplate manufacturing 

contributed approximately 0.6% or US$0.6 million in FY2017. During the year under review, 

the Group completed the disposal transaction of the tinplate processing business.

In terms of geographical contribution, North Asia market remained as the Group’s main 

market, and accounted for approximately US$101.7 million of the Group’s total revenue from 

its continuing operations in FY2017, compared to approximately US$91.3 million in FY2016. 

North Asia market contributed approximately 99.9% and 89.3% of total revenue from the 

Group’s continuing operations in FY2017 and FY2016, respectively. Revenue derived from 

South East Asia market decreased from approximately US$1.7 million in FY2016 to US$0.1 

million in FY2017. The South East Asia market accounted for 0.1% and 1.7% of the Group’s 

total revenue from its continuing operations in FY2017 and FY2016, respectively. Other 

regions contributed approximately US$9.1 million revenue, representing approximately 9.0% 

of the Group’s total revenue in FY2016, which diminished to nil in FY2017.

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit decreased by 31.0% from US$1.7 million in FY2016 to US$1.2 

million in FY2017. The gross profit margin was arrived at 1.2% and 1.7% for FY2017 

and FY2016 respectively. The change in the gross profit margin was mainly due to market 

fluctuation and keen competition during these two reporting years.
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Other income

Other income slightly increased from US$7.5 million for FY2016 to US$7.6 million for 

FY2017. During the year under review, the Group recorded a gain on disposal of property held 

for-sale of US$4.2 million, and recognised a gain on fair value adjustments on non-current 

borrowings of US$2.7 million. 

Distribution and selling expenses

The distribution and selling expenses decreased from US$1.3 million in FY2016 to 

approximately US$0.8 million in FY2017. The decrease was mainly due to the fact that the 

management had taken a more stringent cost control on the trading segment and the freight 

charges had dropped substantially.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from US$10.2 million in FY2016 to US$8.7 million 

in FY2017. The decrease in administrative expenses were due to cost control adopted by 

management including the shrink in salaries and related cost of US$1.5 million.

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased by 18% from US$5.5 million in FY2016 to approximately US$4.5 

million in FY2017, which was mainly due to repayment of certain bank loans during the year 

under review.

Review of financial position and cash flow

In the face of the cash flow shortage, the Group has adopted a conservative and prudent 

approach to manage its business. During FY2017, the Group has repaid most of its bank loans 

with the proceeds from the disposal of certain of the Group’s land use rights as described below 

to reduce borrowing interest burden while going on running the core business efficiently.

Property, plant and equipment and land use rights

Property, plant and equipment and construction in progress decreased by approximately 8.1% 

from US$58.9 million in FY2016 to US$54.2 million in FY2017 resulting from depreciation 

charge of US$2.1 million and loss on currency translation for these property, plant and 

equipment denominated in foreign currency of US$3.8 million and offset by addition of 

US$1.2 million.
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The Group disposed of one of the land use rights in Taizhou, Jiangsu, China during the year 

under review and the proceeds were used for repayment of certain loans. Another land use 

rights was being sold in May 2017 subsequent to the end of FY2017 and it was reclassified 

under current assets. Both resulted in a 38.4% decrease in non-current land use rights from 

US$4.2 million as at 30 April 2016 to US$2.6 million as at 30 April 2017.

Inventories

Since trading business is with short stock turnover days and the temporary suspension of 

manufacturing business, no inventory was held by the Group as at 30 April 2017. The residual 

inventories in FY2016 were sold during the year under review.

Trade and other receivables

During the year under review, the Group assigned US$12.6 million of long outstanding 

receivables to New Page on a dollar-to-dollar basis to offset and deduct the amount from the 

loan from New Page, which resulted in a significant decrease of 76.3% in trade and other 

receivables from US$23.4 million as at 30 April 2016 to US$5.5 million as at 30 April 2017.

Non-current assets held-for-sale and disposal group assets classified as held-for-sale

The Group completed the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on 27 March 2017, the date on which 

TIANJIN SHIFA ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. Subsequent to the disposal, the Group 

was unable to obtain the audited financial statements of TIANJIN SHIFA for the financial 

period from 1 May 2016 to 27 March 2017. Accordingly, the unaudited management accounts 

of TIANJIN SHIFA as at 31 March 2017 were used to prepare the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group and for the determination of the profit from the discontinued operations 

of the Group for FY2017.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables increased by approximately US$1.3 million from US$14.6 million 

as at 30 April 2016 to US$15.9 million as at 30 April 2017. The increment was mainly due to 

the net-off impact from increase in advance from certain Directors and the ultimate holding 

company of the Company for approximately US$2.5 million, the balance of which are 

unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

During the year under review, the Group has repaid the interest-bearing working capital loans, 

leaving a great portion of non-interest bearing borrowings.
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Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 30 

April 2017 (30 April 2016: Nil).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s total borrowings decreased by approximately US$31.0 million from US$83.7 

million as at 30 April 2016 to US$52.7 million as at 30 April 2017. This was mainly due to 

repayment of bank loans of approximately US$33.0 million and repayment of approximately 

US$5.5 million to Minmetals, Inc. for settlement of litigation involving a subsidiary of the 

Company.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Following the close of the mandatory unconditional cash offer by Golden Star for all the 

remaining shares in the capital of the Company not owned by it and the parties acting in connect 

with it on 27 November 2015 and the consequent change in ownership of the Company, the 

Group has officially started a new chapter.

With respect to the financial position of the Group, the management will endeavor to overcome 

the challenges and adopt a prudent approach in face of the current market conditions.

The Group will also consider the possibility of diversification of business to ensure long term 

sustainable development.

Going forward, the Group will continue to put effort to improve and enhance its existing 

business. At the same time, the Group will actively explore and identify any investment 

and other business opportunities to achieve stepping up, enhancing growth potential and 

maximising shareholders’ values.

Whilst the Group remains focused on developing its existing businesses, the Board is currently 

exploring other business opportunities as it considers that it should be beneficial for the Group 

to seek suitable investment opportunities in other industry sectors in connection with “one 

belt, one road”, such as the internet technology sector and/or the financial related sector, 

which will provide long term sustainable benefits to the Group. No specific investment targets 

have been identified and no definitive agreement has been entered into as at the date of this 

announcement.
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The Company will make relevant announcement(s), as and when appropriate, concerning the 

development of the aforesaid businesses (if any) in accordance with the Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities on the SEHK (the “Hong Kong Listing Rules”) and the Listing Manual of 

the SGX-ST.

BUSINESS UPDATE

Tinplate Manufacturing Project

Considering that the Group has a strong team of competent and experienced personnel, coupled 

with an indisputable power technology, high-quality-level products as well as comparatively 

new machine and equipment, the Group intends to fully resume the operations at the factory in 

Taizhou, Jiangsu, the PRC which is managed by Novowell ETP Limited, in the middle of the 

2018. With the financial support from Golden Star and stronger monitoring of the daily (“the 

Group”) management and operation, the Group expects that the cash flow of this operation will 

gradually improve.

Organic Beer Project

On 20 July 2017, the Company announced that on the same date, Star Promise Investments 

Limited (the “Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Sun Bao Gang, 

Ms. Wu Ching Man and Organic Beer Hong Kong Limited (the “Target Company”) entered 

into a Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement, pursuant to which the Subscriber had 

conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Target Company had conditionally agreed to issue 

and allot to the Subscriber, subject to fulfillment of certain conditions, new ordinary shares 

in the Target Company (representing 60% of the issued share capital of the Target Company 

immediately after the subscription) at the subscription price of HK$8 million (approximately 

US$1.03 million), which was determined based on various factors including the costs of 

acquisition or leasing of machinery and equipment necessary for the operation of the business 

and as general working capital for the operation of the business to the Target Company. The 

subscription price will be satisfied in cash and will be funded by internal resources.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Reconciliation between FRSs and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

For FY2017, there were no material differences between the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group prepared under FRSs and IFRSs (which include all IFRSs, International 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations).
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Operational and Financial Risks

Market Risk

The major market risks of the Group include changes in the average selling and purchase prices 

of key products, and fluctuations in interest and exchange rates.

Commodity Price Risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk arising from fluctuations in product sale 

prices and purchase costs.

Interest Rate Risk

The major market interest rate risk that the Group is exposed to its borrowings which are subject 

to floating interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s revenue and costs are primarily denominated in US$. Some costs may be 

denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi or Singapore dollars. The Group will be subject to 

currency exposure except for US$ which are pegged with HK dollars. The Group will continue 

to monitor its foreign exchange exposure from time to time.

Inflation and Currency Risk

According to the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the consumer price 

index (CPI) went up by 1.2% in FY2017, as compared to 2.3% in FY2016. Such inflation in the 

PRC did not have a significant effect on the Group’s operating results.

Liquidity Risk

The Group monitors its liquidity risk exposure to shortage of funds. The Group regularly 

reviews the maturity of its financial investments and assets (e.g. trade receivables and other 

financial assets) and projected cash flows from various operations. The Group’s objective is to 

maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of available 

bank loans and bank and other available facilities.
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Gearing Risk

The Group monitors its capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize 

shareholders’ value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 

light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 

may raise new debt or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 

processes for managing capital during the years ended 30 April 2017 and 30 April 2016.

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities not provided for in the consolidated financial statements at the end of the 

reporting period are as follows:

(a) Bills discounted with recourse

Group
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Discounted bills with recourse supported 

by letter of credit – 254  

(b) Guarantees

Company
2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Corporate guarantees issued by 

the Company to banks in respect of 

banking facilities of subsidiaries – 129,726  

Amounts utilised by subsidiaries – 20,958  
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(c) Contingent liabilities of which the probability of settlement is not remote at the end 
of the reporting period, are as follows:

Group

(i) Several contractors/suppliers/employees are making claims against the Group for 

outstanding payable sum (including legal fees) totalling approximately US$3.65 

million or RMB25.13 million. The total claims (including legal fees) were 

adequately accrued for under trade and other payables. At 30 April 2016, inventories 

with net carrying amount of US$188,536 was frozen by the People’s Court of 

Xinghua City. In addition, a deposit of US$928,980 was set aside as guarantee 

deposit by the People’s Court of Xinghua City and Xinghua City Municipal Finance 

Bureau.

During the current financial year, the above inventories and certain land use 

rights of the Group have been disposed of by the People’s Court of Xinghua City. 

The proceeds from disposal has been distributed to several contractors/suppliers/

employees in January 2018. Besides, the guarantee deposit was also fully utilised 

to settle the Group’s outstanding debts owing to several contractors/suppliers/

employees.

Subsequent to year end, the Group entered into settlement agreements with 47 

contractors/suppliers/employees, which reduced the claim against the Group from 

RMB25.13 million to RMB17.40 million and recorded a gain of approximately 

RMB7.5 million from the settlement of the litigations and approximately RMB14.78 

million has been paid to contractors/suppliers/employees.

(ii) On 18 March 2016, Novo Commodities Limited (“NCL”) has received a Writ of 

Summons under an action commenced in the High Court of Hong Kong with respect 

to the outstanding other borrowings of US$10,940,000 (2016: US$10,938,453) 

provided by a strategic partner. The strategic partner claimed against NCL for the 

breach of a repayment agreement signed in June 2015, in which the outstanding 

other borrowings were not repaid in full by 20 December 2015. Accordingly, the 

strategic partner demand for the repayment of the outstanding other borrowings of 

US$10,940,000 together with the accrued interests. The accrued interests has been 

accrued for under accrued operating expenses as at the end of the reporting period.
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On 27 April 2017, the High Court of Hong Kong ordered that all further proceedings 

in respect of the other borrowings be stayed upon the terms set out in a settlement 

agreement entered into between NCL and the strategic partner dated 4 February 

2017 (“Deed of Settlement”). Pursuant to the Deed of Settlement, the strategic 

partner has agreed to accept the sum of US$10,940,000 as full and final settlement 

of its claim against NCL. NCL has paid to the strategic partner a total amount of 

US$5,500,000 during the current financial year. Under the Deed of Settlement, 

NCL shall settle the remaining balance of US$5,440,000 in six equal half-yearly 

instalments with the first and the last instalments payable on or before 30 June 

2017 and 31 December 2019, respectively. Interest shall accrue and be payable on 

US$5,440,000 at the rate of 6% per annum from 1 January 2017.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has failed to make payment 

of the principal repayment totalling US$2,700,000 on their respective due on or 

before 30 June 2018.

As at the date when these financial statements were approved for issue by the Board 

of Directors, the management is in negotiations with the strategic partner on the 

revised repayment terms of the outstanding other borrowings at 30 April 2017.

(iii) On 6 September 2016, China CITIC Bank International Limited (the “Bank”) 

through its solicitor, issued a demand letter to the Group claiming for immediate 

repayment for an aggregate amount of US$14,308,992, which includes the 

outstanding principal and accrued interests, in respect of the banking facilities 

granted by the Bank to the Group. The Bank’s legal advisers on 25 November 2016, 

informing the Group that an application has been submitted to the Intermediate 

People’s Court of Taizhou City, Jiangsu province, the PRC to wind up the Group 

and to repay and settle all outstanding liabilities under the banking facilities in 

accordance with the applicable laws. The total outstanding bank loan was recorded 

under borrowings.

On 18 August 2017, the Bank, Real Shine Capital Limited (“RSCL”) and the 

Group entered into a deed of assignment of loan and securities (the “Assignment”), 

pursuant to which the Bank agreed to assign to RSCL and RSCL agreed to accept 

the assignment of the aggregate principal amount and interest thereon owing by the 

Group to the Bank from time to time under the banking facilities and all securities 

(the “Loan”) provided to the Bank pursuant thereto.
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Pursuant to the Assignment, within three business days from the date of the 

Assignment and the making of the prescribed payment by RSCL to the Bank 

upon the execution of the Assignment, the Bank shall be obliged to deliver to 

the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City its application to withdraw the 

winding-up petition and/or application against the Group, and upon making such 

application, the Bank shall notify RSCL in writing and provide a copy of the 

relevant application documents to RSCL. The Company was informed by RSCL 

on 18 August 2017 that such application for withdrawal has been delivered by 

the Bank to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City on 14 August 2017. 

Subsequently, the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City has approved the 

withdrawal pursuant to an order made 5 September 2017.

On 13 November 2017, RSCL and the Group entered into a deed of settlement (the 

“Deed of Settlement”), pursuant to which RSCL agrees with the Group to settle the 

outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Loan and interest accrued thereon 

of US$5,401,249 (HK$37,231,250) as of the date of the Deed of Settlement (the 

“Indebtedness”) in the following manner:

(i) the Group shall pay to RSCL a sum of US$3,075,548 (HK$21,200,000) within 

seven days after the date of the Deed of Settlement; and

(ii) the Group shall pay to RSCL the balance of US$2,176,095 (HK$15,000,000) 

in four instalments of US$544,024 (HK$3,750,000) each, together with the 

interest on the total outstanding balance at an interest rate of 5% per annum, 

of which the first instalment shall be paid on the date falling the first business 

day after 12 calendar months from the date of the Deed of Settlement, and the 

second, third and fourth instalments shall be paid on the first business day of 

every consecutive four calendar months thereafter.

The aggregate amount for each of the first, second, third and fourth instalment 

(including the interest accrued) shall be US$652,829 (HK$4,500,000), US$564,425 

(HK$3,890,625), US$557,624 (HK$3,843,750) and US$550,824 (HK$3,796,875), 

respectively.
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Upon full payment of the Indebtedness made by the Group in accordance with Deed 

of Settlement, RSCL shall irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely releases and 

discharges the Group from all or any obligations, liabilities, undertakings or claims 

in respect of the Indebtedness.

Pursuant to the Deed of Settlement, RSCL agreed to release each of the securities 

being assigned and/or transferred to it pursuant to the Assignment immediately upon 

it is legally and validly assigned and transferred to it by the Bank.

(iv) The Group completed the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on 27 March 2017, the 

date which TIANJIN SHIFA ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. However, a 

contractor is making claim of overdue construction costs amounting to US$246,868 

or RMB1,701,684 against TIANJIN SHIFA and initiated a legal action in the 

People’s Court of Tianjin on 30 March 2017. Pursuant to the addendum to the 

equity transfer agreement signed, the Group has agreed to set aside and deposited an 

amount of US$246,868 or RMB1,701,684 out of the total proceeds from the disposal 

into a notary account under custody of Tianjin City He Xi Notaries.

The legal adviser advised that there are reasonable grounds of defence but subject to 

decision by the People’s Court of Tianjin.

The management is of the view that no further provision is necessary for any of the legal 

cases described above having considered the status of the legal cases and the opinions 

obtained from the legal advisers.

Significant events after the reporting period

(i) On 20 July 2017, the Company announced that Star Promise Investments Limited (the 

“Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Sun Bao Gang, Ms. Wu 

Ching Man and Organic Beer Hong Kong Limited (the “Target Company”) entered into a 

Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to 

which the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Target Company has 

conditionally agreed to issue and allot to the Subscriber, subject to fulfillment of certain 

conditions (the “Conditions Precedent”), new ordinary shares in the Target Company 

(representing 60% of the issued share capital of the Target Company immediately after the 

subscription) at the subscription price of US$1,025,640 or HK$8,000,000 (the “Proposed 

Subscription”), which was determined based on various factors including the costs of 

acquisition or leasing of machinery and equipment necessary for the operation of the 

business and as general working capital for the operation of the business to the Target 

Company.
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The Target Company will be the first brewery of additive-free beer in Hong Kong. The 

Board of Directors believe this is a viable investment opportunity and is of the view that 

the Proposed Subscription is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Proposed Subscription was completed on 8 September 2017. The Target Company 

will be consolidated with effect from 8 September 2017. Details of the assets acquired, 

liabilities assumed, non-controlling interest that will be recognized, acquisition costs and 

effects on the Group’s profit or loss and cash flows for the financial year ended 30 April 

2018 are not disclosed as accounting for the business combination is still incomplete at 

the time these financial statements are authorised for issue.

(ii) In May 2017, the land use rights of Novowell Lamination which were pledged as security 

in respect of a litigation as disclosed in Note 29(c)(i) were placed under the auction by the 

People’s Court of Xinghua City. The land use rights were disposed of at a consideration 

of US$484,000 or RMB3,334,500 in May 2017.

(iii) On 18 August 2017, the Bank, RSCL and the Group entered into a deed of assignment 

of loan and securities (the “Assignment”), pursuant to which the Bank agreed to assign 

to RSCL and RSCL agreed to accept the assignment of the aggregate principal amount 

and interest thereon owing by the Group to the Bank from time to time under the banking 

facilities and all securities (the “Loan”) provided to the Bank pursuant thereto. Pursuant 

to the Assignment, within three business days from the date of the Assignment and 

the making of the prescribed payment by RSCL to the Bank upon the execution of the 

Assignment, the Bank shall be obliged to deliver to the Intermediate People’s Court 

of Taizhou City its application to withdraw the winding-up petition and/or application 

against the Group, and upon making such application, the Bank shall notify RSCL in 

writing and provide a copy of the relevant application documents to RSCL. The Company 

was informed by RSCL on 18 August 2017 that such application for withdrawal has been 

delivered by the Bank to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City on 14 August 

2017. Subsequently, the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City has approved the 

withdrawal pursuant to an order made 5 September 2017.
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On 13 November 2017, RSCL and the Group entered into a deed of settlement, pursuant 

to which RSCL agrees with the Group to settle the outstanding bank loan in the following 

manner:

(i) the Group shall pay to RSCL a sum of US$3,075,548 (HK$21,200,000) within seven 

days after the date of the Deed of Settlement; and

(ii) the Group shall pay to RSCL the balance of US$2,176,095 (HK$15,000,000) in 

four instalments of US$544,024 (HK$3,750,000) each, together with the interest on 

the total outstanding balance at an interest rate of 5% per annum, of which the first 

instalment shall be paid on the date falling the first business day after 12 calendar 

months from the date of the Deed of Settlement, and the second, third and fourth 

instalments shall be paid on the first business day of every consecutive four calendar 

months thereafter.

The aggregate amount for each of the first, second, third and fourth instalment 

(including the interest accrued) shall be US$652,829 (HK$4,500,000), US$564,425 

(HK$3,890,625), US$557,624 (HK$3,843,750) and US$550,824 (HK$3,796,875), 

respectively.

Upon full payment of the Indebtedness made by the Group in accordance with Deed 

of Settlement, RSCL shall irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely releases and 

discharges the Group from all or any obligations, liabilities, undertakings or claims in 

respect of the Indebtedness.

(iv) On 5 June 2017, the Company has incorporated an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, 

Yorkshine Trading (Guangzhou) Limited with registered and fully-paid capital of 

HK$350,000.

(v) On 6 February 2018, the Company has filed a report with Hong Kong Police, as certain 

books and records of the Group are missing, destroyed and cannot be located. In the 

meantime, the Company will not be in a position to accurately ascertain nor evaluate the 

potential impact of loss until Hong Kong Police has investigated and ascertained the facts 

surrounding the books and records which are missing, destroyed and cannot be located.
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(vi) Pursuant to a letter dated 11 July 2018 (the “Letter”) addressed to the Company and five 

of its subsidiaries (the “Relevant Subsidiaries”), New Page Investments Limited (“New 

Page”) demanded the Company and the Relevant Subsidiaries to repay on or before 1 

August 2018 (being the maturity date of the Loan Agreements (as defined below)) a 

total sum of USD33,248,130.29, being the aggregate outstanding amount due from the 

Relevant Subsidiaries to New Page pursuant to the various loan agreements entered into 

between each of the Relevant Subsidiaries and New Page between 2015 and 2016 (and as 

extended by various extension letters in 2017) (the “Loan Agreements”).

As at the date of this announcement, the Group is in the course of seeking professional 

advices in relation to the matters mentioned in the Letter.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 April 2017, the Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately US$6.9 

million (30 April 2016: US$9.8 million). The gearing ratio, calculated as a percentage of total 

liabilities to total assets, was 98.9% as at 30 April 2017 (30 April 2016: 97.8%). In the opinion 

of the Directors, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations 

in full as they fall due in the foreseeable future.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During FY2017, the Company did not redeem any of its listed securities nor did the Company 

or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any such securities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 April 2017, the Group had a total of 147 (30 April 2016: 255) full-time employees. 

The Group determines its staff’s remuneration based on factors such as qualifications, years 

of experience, market conditions and performance of the individual employees. The Company 

does not have any share option scheme for its employees.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s annual results for FY2017, 

including the accounting principles and standards adopted by the Group. It has also discussed 

and reviewed accounting, internal controls, and financial reporting matters of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibility to its shareholders and protecting 

and enhancing shareholder value through solid corporate governance. During FY2017, the 

Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code  

contained in Appendix 14 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has established written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the 

requirements under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. 

Following specific enquiries made by the Company with them, all the Directors have confirmed 

that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of 

conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions during FY2017.
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PUBLICATION OF THE RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT

This audited final results announcement is published on the respective websites of the 

Company (www.yorkshinegroup.com), the SEHK (www.hkexnews.hk) and the SGX-ST 

(www.sgx.com).

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Trading of shares of the Company on the SEHK and the SGX-ST will remain suspended 

until further notice.

By order of the Board

YORKSHINE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Zhu Jun

Executive Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 1 August 2018

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises two executive Directors, being 

Mr. Zhu Jun and Ms. Wang Jianqiao; one non-executive Director, being Dr. Ouyang Qian; and 

three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Tang Chi Loong, Mr. Foo Teck Leong 
and Mr. William Robert Majcher.
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APPENDIX I

NOTES EXTRACTED FROM THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Going concern assumption

During the financial year ended 30 April 2017, the Group incurred a net loss from 

continuing operations of US$11,076,003 (2016: US$10,740,563) and the Company 

incurred net loss of US$1,741,510 (2016: US$1,202,737). At 30 April 2017, the Group’s 

current liabilities exceeded the current assets by US$22,691,922 (2016: US$23,498,828).

As disclosed in Note 16, a subsidiary within the tinplate manufacturing segment who 

suspended its operations since the prior financial year ended 30 April 2015 has only 

resumed its operations in May 2018. The Group also breached the covenants clauses of 

certain borrowings and defaulted on the repayment of instalments of certain borrowings 

on their respective due dates during the financial year as disclosed in Note 22. On 18 

August 2017, the Group successfully entered into a deed of assignment of loan and 

securities with the bank and Real Shine Capital Limited for the loans amounting to 

US$14,200,925 as at 30 April 2017 (2016: US$15,500,000) as disclosed in Note 22. 

Pursuant to a letter dated 11 July 2018, New Page Investments Limited (“New Page”) 

demanded the Group to repay a total sum of US$33,248,140 on or before 1 August 2018 

as disclosed in Notes 22 and 36(vi). The Group also has several on-going litigations as at 

30 April 2017 as disclosed in Note 29(c).

These factors indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant 

doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going concerns and 

to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

Nevertheless, the Directors of the Company believe that the use of the going concern 

assumption in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements for the financial 

year ended 30 April 2017 is appropriate after taking into consideration the following 

factors:

(i) The immediate and ultimate holding company agrees to unconditionally provide 

continuous financial assistance to the Group in order to meet their obligations and to 

carry on their business for a period of not less than twelve months from the date of 

the letter of financial assistance, i.e. 10 July 2018;
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(ii) As disclosed in Note 36, the Group entered into a Subscription and Shareholders’ 

Agreement with a Target Company to invest in the first brewery of additive-free 

beer in Hong Kong. The Directors believe this is a viable investment opportunity;

(iii) The banking facilities from their bankers for their working capital requirements for 

the next twelve months will be available as and when required; and

(iv) The Group and the Company are able to generate sufficient cash flows from their 

operations to meet their current and future obligations.

The Directors of the Company are of the view that the continuing financial support 

from the immediate and ultimate holding company is a key factor for the Group and the 

Company to continue their operations as going concerns. The Directors have assessed 

and are satisfied with the willingness and financial ability of the immediate and ultimate 

holding company to provide such financial support to the Group and the Company to meet 

their working capital requirements and obligations as and when they fall due.

Management has taken the following measures to improve the Group’s operational 

performance and financial position:

(i) Adopting a disciplined capital allocation and constantly review capital expenditure 

plans thoroughly so to manage a balanced project portfolio to mitigate risks and 

optimise profitability for all existing projects;

(ii) Strengthening current customers’ base with a focus on high growth potential 

markets in food and beverage sector, and strengthen customer relationship by 

providing quality products and services and engineering solutions to customers;

(iii) Continuously seeking improvements in the production efficiency of the Group’s 

production facilities through technological enhancements and system re-engineering 

in order to further reduce the costs of production;

(iv) Focusing on cost reduction while exploring all the opportunities to increase the 

sales volume of trading business and tinplate products, so to achieve operational 

efficiency by fully utilise the capacity of the tinplate manufacturing plant; and

(v) Enhancing the research and development capabilities with the aims to expand 

the expertise in tinplate production, improving tinplate quality and bolster 

manufacturing capabilities by adding high-margin products to the product portfolio.
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After considering the measures taken described above, the Group and the Company 

believe that they have adequate resources and can cut cost to continue their operations as 

going concerns.

For these reasons, the financial statements have been prepared on the assumptions that the 

Group and the Company will continue as going concerns. If the Group and the Company 

are unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group and 

the Company may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the 

normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation 

that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of business and at 

amounts which could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently 

recorded in the statements of financial position. In addition, the Group and the Company 

may have to provide for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current 

assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.

5 Revenue

In the course of the audit of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2017 

(“FY2017”), the auditors discovered that there were two sets of sales and purchases 

contracts (the “contracts”) pertaining to the same underlying transactions for certain 

of the Group’s sale of commodities. The first set of contracts (“void contracts”) were 

supposedly signed by the Company’s subsidiaries directly with the respective customers 

and suppliers. For the second set of contracts, the sales contracts were all signed by 

Novostal Limited (“NSL”) as an agent on behalf of the Company’s subsidiaries with 

respective customers. As such, the auditors have raised concerns as to which set of 

contracts reflects the Group’s business operations.

In view of the above, the Board of Directors of the Company had appointed Independent 

Reviewer to conduct an independent review into facts and circumstances surrounding the 

two sets of contracts, their veracity and impact to the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group.
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On 19 January 2018, the Company announced the key findings of the Independent Review 

and published the executive summary of the Review Report. The key findings include the 

following: 

(i) During FY2017, the Company’s subsidiaries entered into sales agency agreements 

and a letter of credit (“LC”) agency agreement with NSL for 14 back-to-back 

sales and purchases transactions (the “Transactions”). NSL entered into these 

Transactions as sales and LC financing agent on behalf of the Company’s 

subsidiaries. NSL is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, in which Mr. Yu Wing 

Keung, a former director of the Company is the ultimate beneficial owner. 

(ii) The void contracts were not intended to be released to the auditors but due to 

miscommunication among the staff, the void contracts were provided to the auditor.

(iii) There were no original contracts kept by the Group as these trading activities were 

conducted through electronic communication and signed contracts were returned via 

email.

(iv) Given that the auditor requested for the full set of the original contracts, the 

management prepared a new set of contracts (“revised contracts”) and sent these 

to their customers and suppliers for them to sign and return to replace the voided 

contracts in July 2017.

(v) For trades in which the Group acted as principal, there are letters of credit and sales 

agency agreements signed with NSL as agent, and for trades in which the Group 

acted as agent, there are purchase agency agreements signed by the Company’s 

subsidiaries as agents with NSL. The letter of credit agency agreement covers the 

financial year ended 30 April 2017 and was dated 1 May 2016.

(vi) Due to limitations on the scope of work of the Independent Reviewer, the 

Independent Review was not able to establish the completeness of the Group’s sales 

and purchases of commodities as recorded in the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group.
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The Board of Directors notes that while the Review Report has identified management 

and staff who had prepared the void contracts in their misguided haste to “simplify 

the audit process” for FY2017, no fraudulent conduct was identified for the sales and 

purchases transactions in the course of the independent review. The Board of Directors 

is not aware of any material impact to the consolidated financial statements of the Group 

or financial loss to the Group due to these arrangements. The subject transactions have 

been completed, the letters of credit have been paid in full and the issuing banks and 

beneficiaries have not alleged any losses or damages. As at 30 April 2017, the Group 

recorded an amount due to NSL of US$895,106 under trade and other payables (Note 

24). The independent legal advice also assured the Board of Directors that the relevant 

documentation is not inconsistent with the position that the Company’s subsidiaries are 

the principals of the subject transactions, and bear the risks and are entitled to the profits 

of the subject transactions. In addition, the Board of Directors also received the statutory 

declaration of NSL which stated that all the documents related to the sales and purchases 

transactions were true and correct. Accordingly, the Board of Directors has no reason to 

believe that the sales and purchases transactions are not genuine.

13 Discontinued operations and disposal group classified as held-for-sale

On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to sell its 

50% equity interest in TIANJIN SHIFA (which previously contributed to the tinplate 

processing segment of the Group). The entire assets and liabilities relating to TIANJIN 

SHIFA have been presented as disposal group classified as held-for-sale in the 

consolidated statement of financial position of the Group at 30 April 2016, and the entire 

financial performance of TIANJIN SHIFA were presented in a single amount separately 

on the consolidated income statement of the Group as “Discontinued Operations”.

The Group completed the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on 27 March 2017, the date which 

TIANJIN SHIFA ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. Subsequent to the disposal, 

the Group was unable to obtain the audited financial statements of TIANJIN SHIFA for 

the financial period from 1 May 2016 to 27 March 2017. Accordingly, the unaudited 

management accounts of TIANJIN SHIFA as at 31 March 2017 were used to prepare the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group and for the determination of the profit from 

the discontinued operations of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2017.
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(i) The analysis of the profit/(loss) from discontinued operations are as follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Revenue 28,393,739 23,257,881

Cost of sales (28,752,357) (23,632,997)  

Gross loss (358,618) (375,116)

Other income 389,658 581,273

Distribution and selling expenses (9,720) (204,583)

Administrative expenses 1,053,144 (400,460)

Finance costs (658,921) (1,113,447)  

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued 

operations 415,543 (1,512,333)

Income tax expense – –  

Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued operations 415,543 (1,512,333)

Gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA (Note 13(vi)) 1,152,523 –  

Total profit/(loss) from discontinued operations, 

net of tax 1,568,066 (1,512,333)  
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(a) Revenue

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Sales of goods

– Tinplate processing 28,393,739 23,257,881  

(b) Other income

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Amortisation of deferred income – 32,263

Interest income 175,867 342,618

Government grants – 4,718

Sundry income 213,791 201,674  

389,658 581,273  

(c) Distribution and selling expenses

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Freight charges 9,720 204,583  
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(d) Finance costs

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Bank charges 58,166 36,383

Interest on bank borrowings 600,755 1,077,064  

658,921 1,113,447  

(e) Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued 

operations is determined after charging/

(crediting):

Audit fees paid to other auditors* – 31,332

Amortisation of land use rights 87,142 24,629

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 440,821 280,671

Material costs recognised as an expense 

in cost of sales 28,752,357 23,632,997

Net loss on foreign exchange – 424

Staff costs 362,012 301,727

Write-back of impairment loss on assets (845,388) –

Write-back of inventories written down (355,288) –  

* Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly International network.
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(ii) The impact of the discontinued operations on the cash flows of the Group is as 

follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Operating cash flows 4,048,234 2,622,317

Investing cash flows (600,823) (1,125,837)

Financing cash flows (3,492,752) (2,520,952)  

Total cash flows (45,341) (1,024,472)  

(iii) Details of disposal group classified as held-for-sale are as follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Property, plant and equipment – 5,164,715

Land use rights – 1,052,808

Inventories – 1,499,414

Trade and other receivables – 13,539,991

Cash and cash equivalents – 23,114,266  

– 44,371,194  

(a) Included in property, plant and equipment at 30 April 2016 was a long 

leasehold building in Tianjin, the PRC, with net carrying amount of 

US$2,928,907.
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(b) The details of the land use rights at 30 April 2016 were as follows:

Location Lease period Land area
(square metres)

Tianjin, the PRC November 2009 to 

September 2059

25,000.00

(c) Included in trade and other receivables at 30 April 2016 were trade and 

non-trade amount owing by a related party amounted to US$5,070,112 and 

US$5,601,568 respectively. TIANJIN SHIFA made an interest-free advance 

of US$10,222,938 to and also made payment on behalf of US$8,044,225 for 

a related party during the financial year ended 30 April 2016. The interest-

free advance and payment on behalf remained outstanding at 30 April 2016 

amounted to US$5,601,568. The related party refers to a company controlled 

by an entity having a significant influence on TIANJIN SHIFA.

(d) Included in cash and cash equivalents at 30 April 2016 were fixed deposits of 

US$23,068,925 which have been pledged to banks for bills payable granted.

(iv) Details of liabilities directly associated with disposal group classified as held-for-

sale are as follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Trade and other payables – 43,958,737

Deferred income – 238,910

Tax payable – 27,218  

– 44,224,865  
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(v) Details of reserve of disposal group classified as held-for-sale are as follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Foreign currency translation reserve – 341,957  

(vi) The effects of the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA on the cash flows of the Group are as 

follows:

2017
US$

Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 5,324,717
Land use rights 965,666
Inventories 1,368,460
Trade and other receivables 7,768,414
Cash and cash equivalents 

(pledged to banks for bills payable granted) 15,248,281
Trade and other payables (including bills payable to banks) (29,863,193)
Deferred income (238,910)
Tax payable (2,501) 

570,934
Less: non-controlling interests (319,414) 

Identified net assets disposed of 251,520
Reclassification from currency translation reserve (346,488)
Gain on disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA 1,152,523 

Total cash consideration received 1,057,555
Less: cash and cash equivalents in TIANJIN SHIFA – 

Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary 1,057,555 
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15 Loss per share

From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic and diluted loss per share is calculated based on the Group’s loss for the financial 

year attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial years ended 30 April 2017 and 

30 April 2016.

Group
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$ US$

Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders

of the Company (9,273,614) (10,894,542)  

Number of ordinary shares
2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and 

diluted loss per share 186,271,776 170,804,269  

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the financial years 

ended 30 April 2017 and 2016 and therefore the diluted loss per share amounts for those 

years were the same as the basic loss per share.
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From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations 

attributable to equity holders of the Company is based on the following data.

Group
(Restated)

2017 2016
US$ US$

Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders
of the Company (9,273,614) (10,894,542)

(Profit)/loss for the financial year from 

discontinued operations (1,360,294) 756,167  

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share from
continuing operations (10,633,908) (10,138,375)  

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted loss 

per share.

From discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the discontinued operations is based on the 

profit for the financial year from the discontinued operations of US$1,360,294 (2016: loss 

of US$756,167) and the denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings/

(loss) per share.
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16 Property, plant and equipment

Group

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

computer 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Renovation

Construction 
work-in-
progress Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

2017

Cost
At 1.5.2016

– As previously reported 6,597,600 57,911,056 692,778 764,078 190,329 4,262,902 70,418,743
– Prior year adjustment 

(Note 35) – (4,207,500) – – – – (4,207,500)       

As restated 6,597,600 53,703,556 692,778 764,078 190,329 4,262,902 66,211,243
Additions – – 17,143 – – 1,142,755 1,159,898
Disposals – (74,519) – – – – (74,519)
Currency translation 

differences (415,564) (3,383,222) (35,170) (66,731) (1,852) (402,888) (4,305,427)       

At 30.4.2017 6,182,036 50,245,815 674,751 697,347 188,477 5,002,769 62,991,195       

Accumulated depreciation
At 1.5.2016 752,651 5,124,235 526,797 718,911 141,936 – 7,264,530
Depreciation charge 218,332 1,787,406 82,688 23,777 14,964 – 2,127,167
Disposals – (17,885) – – – – (17,885)
Currency translation 

differences (110,252) (279,144) (81,984) (73,133) (1,654) – (546,167)       

At 30.4.2017 860,731 6,614,612 527,501 669,555 155,246 – 8,827,645       

Net carrying value
At 30.4.2017 5,321,305 43,631,203 147,250 27,792 33,231 5,002,769 54,163,550       
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Group

Leasehold 

land and 

buildings

Plant and 

machinery

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

computer 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles Renovation

Construction 

work-in-

progress Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

2016

Cost
At 1.5.2015 16,507,945 56,714,155 712,419 1,088,734 146,803 4,517,775 79,687,831

Additions 28,318 408,941 46,743 – 45,186 1,962,844 2,492,032

Disposals – – (181) (143,692) – – (143,873)

Reclassified as property 

held-for-sale (5,807,561) – – – – – (5,807,561)

Reclassified as disposal group 

classified as 

held-for-sale (3,559,209) (366,152) (36,122) (142,078) – (1,869,299) (5,972,860)

Currency translation 

differences (Restated) (571,893) (3,053,388) (30,081) (38,886) (1,660) (348,418) (4,044,326)       

At 30.4.2016 (Restated) 6,597,600 53,703,556 692,778 764,078 190,329 4,262,902 66,211,243       

Accumulated depreciation
At 1.5.2015 1,770,480 3,401,996 440,264 818,721 125,291 – 6,556,752

Depreciation charge 584,658 1,970,925 120,650 145,676 17,826 – 2,839,735

Disposals – – (86) (128,923) – – (129,009)

Reclassified as property 

held-for-sale (918,823) – – – – – (918,823)

Reclassified as disposal group 

classified as 

held-for-sale (630,303) (77,517) (18,884) (81,441) – – (808,145)

Currency translation 

differences (53,361) (171,169) (15,147) (35,122) (1,181) – (275,980)       

At 30.4.2016 752,651 5,124,235 526,797 718,911 141,936 – 7,264,530       

Net carrying value
At 30.4.2016 (Restated) 5,844,949 48,579,321 165,981 45,167 48,393 4,262,902 58,946,713       
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Novowell ETP Limited (“NWETP”), a PRC subsidiary within the tinplate manufacturing 

segment who suspended its operations since the prior financial year ended 30 April 2015 

has only resumed its operations in May 2018. The property, plant and equipment relating 

to NWETP amounted to US$49,594,610 (2016: US$53,847,914).

At the end of the reporting period, property, plant and equipment with the following net 

carrying values are pledged to certain banks for banking facilities granted (Note 22):

Group
(Restated)

2017 2016

US$ US$

Leasehold land and buildings 5,321,305 4,667,119

Plant and machinery 43,631,204 48,579,321

Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment 98,839 110,426

Motor vehicles 6,415 5,214

Construction work-in-progress 2,986,838 2,111,457  

52,044,601 55,473,537  

The analysis of net carrying value of leasehold land and buildings is as follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Long leasehold land and building in Shanghai, the PRC 1,030,788 1,177,830

Long leasehold buildings in Jiangsu province, the PRC 4,290,517 4,667,119  

5,321,305 5,844,949  
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17 Land use rights

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Cost
At beginning of the financial year 4,525,643 6,081,548

Disposals (782,550) –

Reclassified to disposal group assets classified as 

held-for-sale – (1,210,426)

Currency translation differences (306,558) (345,479)  

At end of the financial year 3,436,535 4,525,643  

Accumulated amortisation
At beginning of the financial year 329,322 380,832

Amortisation charge 94,891 128,385

Disposals (56,946) –

Reclassified to disposal group assets classified as 

held-for-sale – (157,618)

Currency translation differences (22,311) (22,277)  

At end of the financial year 344,956 329,322  

Net carrying value
At end of the financial year 3,091,579 4,196,321  

Amount to be amortised or disposed of:
– Not later than one financial year 576,846 103,756

– Later than one financial year but not later than 

five financial years 279,247 415,023

– Later than five financial years 2,235,486 3,677,542  

3,091,579 4,196,321  
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The Group’s land use rights are classified in the statements of financial position as 

follows:

Group
2017 2016

US$ US$

Current 507,034 –

Non-current 2,584,545 4,196,321  

3,091,579 4,196,321  

The details of the land use rights at 30 April 2017 are as follows:

Location Lease period Land area
(square metres)

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC July 2011 to February 2058 26,669.60

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC August 2011 to February 2058 23,288.00

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC January 2012 to January 2062 15,655.60

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC April 2013 to January 2063 21,673.60

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC April 2014 to June 2063 7,998.40

Xinghua City, Jiangsu province, the PRC April 2014 to February 2058 19,632.50

During the current financial year, land use rights with net carrying amount of US$725,604 

were disposed off by the People’s Court of Xinghua City on behalf of the PRC subsidiary 

at total consideration of US$666,347. Out of the total proceeds, US$451,281 was received 

by the PRC subsidiaries and the remaining proceed is kept by the People’s Court of 

Xinghua City and will be used to settle the Group’s outstanding debts owing to certain 

contractors/suppliers/employees in respect of the on-going litigations as disclosed in Note 

29(c)(i). In January 2018, proceeds have been used to settle the Group’s outstanding debts 

owing to a contractor/supplier.
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At the end of the reporting period, land use rights with net carrying value of 

US$2,584,545 (2016: US$3,112,064) are pledged to certain banks for banking facilities 

granted (Note 22).

At the end of the reporting period, land use rights with net carrying value of US$507,034 

(2016: US$552,630) are pledged as security in respect of a litigation as disclosed in Note 

29(c)(i).

As disclosed in Note 36(ii), the land use rights of Novowell Lamination Technology 

(Taizhou) Limited (“Novowell Lamination”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 

the Company which were pledged as security in respect of a litigation as disclosed in 

Note 29(c)(i) were placed under the auction by the People’s Court of Xinghua City 

in May 2017. The land use rights were disposed at a consideration of US$484,000 or 

RMB3,334,500 (the “Proceed”) in May 2017. The Proceed is kept by the People’s Court 

of Xinghua City and will be used to settle the Group’s outstanding debts owing to a 

contractor.

18 Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2017 2016

US$ US$

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

Balance at beginning of financial year 79,463,169 79,460,123

Incorporation/acquisition of new subsidiaries 18,060 3,046  

Balance at end of financial year 79,481,229 79,463,169

Amounts due from subsidiaries 31,496,647 31,496,647  

110,977,876 110,959,816  

Management determined that owing to the nature of the activities of the subsidiaries, 

the amounts due from subsidiaries are quasi-equity in nature, non-interest bearing and 

are therefore included in the investments in subsidiaries. The quasi-equity loans have no 

repayment terms and accordingly, the amounts are stated at cost.
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22 Borrowings

Default and breaches

(i) Bank loan

During the financial year, NWETP has breached certain covenants clauses in the 

loan agreement, including but not limited to the financial condition, financial 

testing, financial covenants and etc. In addition, NWETP has failed to make 

payments of certain instalments of the bank loan on their respective due dates.

On 27 March 2017, the Group received a notice from the Intermediate People’s 

Court of Taizhou City, Jiangsu province, the PRC (the “Intermediate People’s Court 

of Taizhou City”) informing NWETP that an application had been received to wind 

up NWETP due to its inability to settle the outstanding bank loan as disclosed in 

Note 29(c)(iii).

At the end of the reporting period, the total bank loan outstanding amounting to 

US$14,200,925 (2016: US$15,500,000) is presented as current liabilities as at 30 

April 2017. 

On 18 August 2017, China CITIC Bank International Limited (the “Bank”), Real 

Shine Capital Limited (“RSCL”) and NWETP entered into a deed of assignment of 

loan and securities, pursuant to which the Bank agreed to assign to RSCL and RSCL 

agreed to accept the assignment of the aggregate principal amount and interest 

thereon owing by NWETP to the Bank from time to time under the banking facilities 

and all securities provided to the Bank pursuant thereto.

On 18 August 2017, the Company was informed by RSCL that the Bank has made 

an application to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City to withdraw 

the winding-up petition and/or application against NWETP. Subsequently, the 

Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City has approved the withdrawal pursuant 

to an order made on 5 September 2017.

On 13 November 2017, RSCL and NWETP entered into a deed of settlement, 

pursuant to which RSCL agrees with NWETP to settle the outstanding bank loan in 

the manner as disclosed in Note 29(c)(iii).
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(ii) Revolving credit facility

During the financial year, the Group has failed to make payments of certain 

interest of the revolving credit facility on their respective due dates. The interest 

of the revolving credit facility was adequately accrued for under accrued operating 

expenses (Note 24) at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, the revolving credit facility outstanding 

amounting to US$2,321,168 (2016: US$Nil) is presented as current liabilities as at 

30 April 2017. 

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the bank has extended the repayment 

term of the outstanding amount of the revolving credit facility to 20 February 2019.

(iii) Other borrowings

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has failed to make payment 

of the principal repayments totalling US$2,700,000 on their respective due dates 

which is due on or before 30 June 2018.

As at the date when these financial statements were approved for issue by the Board 

of Directors, the management is in negotiations with the strategic partner on the 

revised repayment terms of the outstanding other borrowings at 30 April 2017.
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24 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

US$ US$ US$ US$

Trade and bill payables 250,258 1,816,720 – –

Sales deposits received 410,114 813,961 – –

Accrued operating expenses 4,436,723 3,782,444 546,563 614,117

Other payables 4,417,032 4,889,930 90 90

Other payables for property, 

plant and equipment 2,426,453 1,766,200 – –

Amount due to director 1,328,366 641,246 – –

Amount due to related party 3,412 – – –

Amount due to subsidiaries – – 1,718,133 433,823

Amount due to immediate and 

ultimate holding company 2,673,110 923,656 526,873 24,101    

15,945,468 14,634,157 2,791,659 1,072,131    

The amounts due to immediate and ultimate holding company, subsidiaries, director and 

related party are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of the trade and bill payables at the end of the reporting period based 

on the invoice date is as follows:

Group

2017 2016

US$ US$

0 to 3 months – 127,221

More than 3 months to 6 months – –

More than 6 months to 12 months – –

More than 12 months 250,258 1,689,499  

250,258 1,816,720  
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Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies 

of the respective Group entities are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

US$ US$ US$ US$

RMB 284,370 58,232 142,693 38,706

HKD 508,257 695,987 1,413,895 220,274

IDR – 16,407 – –

SGD 538,004 462,868 616,558 354,503

AED – 4,083 – –

USD 84,130 50 – –

EUR – 1,953 – –

INR – 949 – –    

1,414,761 1,240,529 2,173,146 613,483    

29 Contingent liabilities

(c) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities of which the probability of settlement is not remote at the end 

of the reporting period, are as follows:

Group

(i) Several contractors/suppliers/employees are making claims against NWETP 

for outstanding payable sum (including legal fees) totalling approximately 

US$3.65 million or RMB25.13 million. The total claims (including legal fees) 

were adequately accrued for under trade and other payables (Note 24). At 30 

April 2016, inventories with net carrying amount of US$188,536 was frozen 

by the People’s Court of Xinghua City. In addition, a deposit of US$928,980 

was set aside as guarantee deposit by the People’s Court of Xinghua City and 

Xinghua City Municipal Finance Bureau.
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During the current financial year, the above inventories and certain land use 

rights of the Group have been disposed of by the People’s Court of Xinghua 

City. The proceeds from disposal were kept by the People’s Court of Xinghua 

City and will be used to settle the Group’s outstanding debts owing to several 

contractors/suppliers/employees. Besides, the guarantee deposit was also fully 

utilised to settle the Group’s outstanding debts owing to several contractors/

suppliers/employees. In January 2018, the proceeds has been distributed to 

certain contractors/suppliers/employees.

Subsequent to year end, NWETP entered into settlement agreements with 47 

contractors/suppliers/employees, which reduced the claim against NWETP 

from RMB25.13 million to RMB17.40 million and recorded a gain of 

approximately RMB7.5 million from the settlement of the litigations and 

approximately RMB14.78 million has been paid to contractors/suppliers/

employees.

(ii) On 18 March 2016, Novo Commodities Limited (“NCL”) has received a Writ 

of Summons under an action commenced in the High Court of Hong Kong 

with respect to the outstanding other borrowings of US$10,940,000 (2016: 

US$10,938,453) provided by a strategic partner as disclosed in Note 22. The 

strategic partner claimed against NCL for the breach of a repayment agreement 

signed in June 2015, in which the outstanding other borrowings were not 

repaid in full by 20 December 2015. Accordingly, the strategic partner demand 

for the repayment of the outstanding other borrowings of US$10,940,000 

together with the accrued interests. The accrued interests has been accrued 

for under accrued operating expenses (Note 24) as at the end of the reporting 

period.
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On 27 April 2017, the High Court of Hong Kong ordered that all further 

proceedings in respect of the other borrowings be stayed upon the terms set 

out in a settlement agreement entered into between NCL and the strategic 

partner dated 4 February 2017 (“Deed of Settlement”). Pursuant to the 

Deed of Settlement, the strategic partner has agreed to accept the sum of 

US$10,940,000 as full and final settlement of its claim against NCL. NCL has 

paid to the strategic partner a total amount of US$5,500,000 during the current 

financial year. Under the Deed of Settlement, NCL shall settle the remaining 

balance of US$5,440,000 in six equal half-yearly instalments with the first and 

the last instalments payable on or before 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2019, 

respectively. Interest shall accrue and be payable on US$5,440,000 at the rate 

of 6% per annum from 1 January 2017.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has failed to make 

payment of the principal repayments totaling US$2,700,000 in their respective 

due dates which is due on or before 30 June 2018.

As at the date when these financial statements were approved for issue by 

the Board of Directors, the management is in negotiations with the strategic 

partner on the revised repayment terms of the outstanding other borrowings at 

30 April 2017.

(iii) On 6 September 2016, China CITIC Bank International Limited (the “Bank”) 

through its solicitor, issued a demand letter to NWETP claiming for immediate 

repayment for an aggregate amount of US$14,308,992, which includes the 

outstanding principal and accrued interests, in respect of the banking facilities 

granted by the Bank to NWETP. The Bank’s legal advisers on 25 November 

2016, informing the Group that an application has been submitted to the 

Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC (the 

“Court”) to wind up NWETP and to repay and settle all outstanding liabilities 

under the banking facilities in accordance with the applicable laws. The total 

outstanding bank loan was recorded under borrowings (Note 22).
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On 18 August 2017, the Bank, Real Shine Capital Limited (“RSCL”) and 

NWETP entered into a deed of assignment of loan and securities (the 

“Assignment”), pursuant to which the Bank agreed to assign to RSCL and 

RSCL agreed to accept the assignment of the aggregate principal amount and 

interest thereon owing by NWETP to the Bank from time to time under the 

banking facilities and all securities (the “Loan”) provided to the Bank pursuant 

thereto.

Pursuant to the Assignment, within three business days from the date of the 

Assignment and the making of the prescribed payment by RSCL to the Bank 

upon the execution of the Assignment, the Bank shall be obliged to deliver to 

the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City its application to withdraw 

the winding-up petition and/or application against NWETP, and upon making 

such application, the Bank shall notify RSCL in writing and provide a copy 

of the relevant application documents to RSCL. The Company was informed 

by RSCL on 18 August 2017 that such application for withdrawal has been 

delivered by the Bank to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City on 

14 August 2017. Subsequently, the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou 

City has approved the withdrawal pursuant to an order made 5 September 

2017.

On 13 November 2017, RSCL and NWETP entered into a deed of settlement 

(the “Deed of Settlement”), pursuant to which RSCL agrees with NWETP 

to settle the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Loan and interest 

accrued thereon of US$5,401,249 (HK$37,231,250) as of the date of the Deed 

of Settlement (the “Indebtedness”) in the following manner:

(i) NWETP shall pay to RSCL a sum of US$3,075,548 (HK$21,200,000) 

within seven days after the date of the Deed of Settlement; and

(ii) N W E T P  s h a l l  p a y  t o  R S C L  t h e  b a l a n c e  o f  U S $ 2 , 1 7 6 , 0 9 5 

(HK$15,000,000) in four instalments of US$544,024 (HK$3,750,000) 

each, together with the interest on the total outstanding balance at an 

interest rate of 5% per annum, of which the first instalment shall be 

paid on the date falling the first business day after 12 calendar months 

from the date of the Deed of Settlement, and the second, third and fourth 

instalments shall be paid on the first business day of every consecutive 

four calendar months thereafter.
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The aggregate amount for each of the first, second, third and fourth instalment 

(including the interest accrued) shall be US$652,829 (HK$4,500,000), 

US$564,425 (HK$3,890,625), US$557,624 (HK$3,843,750) and US$550,824 

(HK$3,796,875), respectively.

Upon full payment of the Indebtedness made by NWETP in accordance with 

Deed of Settlement, RSCL shall irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely 

releases and discharges NWETP from all or any obligations, liabilities, 

undertakings or claims in respect of the Indebtedness.

Pursuant to the Deed of Settlement, RSCL agreed to release each of the 

securities being assigned and/or transferred to it pursuant to the Assignment 

immediately upon it is legally and validly assigned and transferred to it by the 

Bank.

(iv) As disclosed in Note 13, the Group completed the disposal of TIANJIN SHIFA 

on 27 March 2017, the date which TIANJIN SHIFA ceased to be a subsidiary 

of the Group. However, a contractor is making claim of overdue construction 

costs amounting to US$246,868 or RMB1,701,684 against TIANJIN SHIFA 

and initiated a legal action in the People’s Court of Tianjin on 30 March 

2017. Pursuant to the addendum to the equity transfer agreement signed, 

the Group has agreed to set aside and deposited an amount of US$246,868 

or RMB1,701,684 out of the total proceeds from the disposal into a notary 

account under custody of Tianjin City He Xi Notaries.

The legal adviser advised that there are reasonable grounds of defence but 

subject to decision by the People’s Court of Tianjin.

The management is of the view that no further provision is necessary for any of the 

legal cases described above having considered the status of the legal cases and the 

opinions obtained from the legal advisers.
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31 Financial instruments

Categories of financial Instruments

Financial instruments at their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period are as 

follows:

Group Company
(Restated)

2017 2016 2017 2016

US$ US$ US$ US$

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 1,250,922 7,066,983 1,024,727 –

Cash and cash equivalents 6,888,251 9,778,425 5,115,800 20,802    

Total loans and receivables 8,139,173 16,845,408 6,140,527 20,802    

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables 15,535,354 13,820,196 2,791,659 1,072,131

Borrowings 52,692,624 83,732,207 – –    

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 68,227,978 97,552,403 2,791,659 1,072,131    



– 81 –

36 Significant events after the reporting period

(i) On 20 July 2017, the Company announced that Star Promise Investments Limited 

(the “Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Sun Bao 

Gang, Ms. Wu Ching Man and Organic Beer Hong Kong Limited (the “Target 

Company”) entered into a Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement (the 

“Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber had conditionally 

agreed to subscribe, and the Target Company had conditionally agreed to issue and 

allot to the Subscriber, subject to fulfillment of certain conditions (the “Conditions 

Precedent”), new ordinary shares in the Target Company (representing 60% of the 

issued share capital of the Target Company immediately after the subscription) 

at the subscription price of US$1,025,640 or HK$8,000,000 (the “Proposed 

Subscription”), which was determined based on various factors including the costs 

of acquisition or leasing of machinery and equipment necessary for the operation of 

the business and as general working capital for the operation of the business to the 

Target Company.

The Target Company would be the first brewery of additive-free beer in Hong Kong. 

The Board of Directors believed that this would be a viable investment opportunity 

and was of the view that the Proposed Subscription would be in the best interests of 

the Company and its shareholders.

The Proposed Subscription was completed on 8 September 2017. The Target 

Company will be consolidated with effect from 8 September 2017. Details of the 

assets acquired, liabilities assumed, non-controlling interest that will be recognised, 

acquisition costs and effects on the Group’s profit or loss and cash flows for the 

financial year ended 30 April 2018 are not disclosed as accounting for the business 

combination is still incomplete at the time these financial statements are authorised 

for issue.
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(ii) In May 2017, the land use rights of Novowell Lamination which were pledged as 

security in respect of a litigation as disclosed in Note 29(c)(i) were placed under the 

auction by the People’s Court of Xinghua City. The land use rights were disposed of 

at a consideration of US$484,000 or RMB3,334,500 in May 2017.

(iii) As disclosed in Note 29(c)(iii), on 18 August 2017, the Bank, RSCL and NWETP 

entered into a deed of assignment of loan and securities (the “Assignment”), 

pursuant to which the Bank agreed to assign to RSCL and RSCL agreed to accept 

the assignment of the aggregate principal amount and interest thereon owing by 

NWETP to the Bank from time to time under the banking facilities and all securities 

(the “Loan”) provided to the Bank pursuant thereto. Pursuant to the Assignment, 

within three business days from the date of the Assignment and the making of the 

prescribed payment by RSCL to the Bank upon the execution of the Assignment, 

the Bank shall be obliged to deliver to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou 

City its application to withdraw the winding-up petition and/or application against 

NWETP, and upon making such application, the Bank shall notify RSCL in writing 

and provide a copy of the relevant application documents to RSCL. The Company 

was informed by RSCL on 18 August 2017 that such application for withdrawal 

has been delivered by the Bank to the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City 

on 14 August 2017. Subsequently, the Intermediate People’s Court of Taizhou City 

approved the withdrawal pursuant to an order made 5 September 2017.

On 13 November 2017, RSCL and NWETP entered into a deed of settlement, 

pursuant to which RSCL agreed with NWETP to settle the outstanding bank loan in 

the manner as disclosed in Note 29(c)(iii).

(iv) On 5 June 2017, the Company incorporated an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, 

Yorkshine Trading (Guangzhou) Limited with registered and fully-paid capital of 

HK$350,000.
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(v) On 6 February 2018, the Company filed a report with the Hong Kong Police, as 

certain books and records of the Group are missing, destroyed and cannot be located. 

In the meantime, the Company will not be in a position to accurately ascertain nor 

evaluate the potential impact of loss until the Hong Kong Police has investigated 

and ascertained the facts surrounding the books and records which are missing, 

destroyed and cannot be located.

(vi) Pursuant to a letter dated 11 July 2018 (the “Letter”) addressed to the Company 

and five of its subsidiaries (the “Relevant Subsidiaries”), New Page demanded 

the Company and the Relevant Subsidiaries to repay on or before 1 August 2018 

(being the maturity date of the Loan Agreements (as defined below)) a total sum 

of US$33,248,130, being the aggregate outstanding amount due from the Relevant 

Subsidiaries to New Page pursuant to various loan agreements entered into between 

each of the Relevant Subsidiaries and New Page between 2015 and 2016 (and as 

extended by various extension letters in 2017) (the “Loan Agreements”).

The Group is in the course of seeking professional advices in relation to the matters 

mentioned in the Letter.”
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